"Flatter me, and I may not believe you. Criticize me, and I may not like you. Ignore me, and I may not forgive you. Encourage me, and I will not forget you."

- William Arthur Ward

Bacteriophage therapy for controlling Escherichia coli O157:H7 in feedlot cattle

by

Erica Ann Rozema



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Master of Science in Animal Science

Department of Agricultural, Food, and Nutritional Science

Edmonton, Alberta Fall, 2008



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

## Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-47402-0 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-47402-0

# NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

# AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Canada

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

# **DEDICATION**

I would like to dedicate this thesis:

- 1) to James for all of the time we spent apart. You kept me going.
- 2) and to my parents who offered to pay for one degree but ended up paying for two.

## ABSTRACT

Oral and rectal administration of bacteriophage was compared for mitigating the fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by inoculated steers. Shedding of nalidixic acid-resistant (Nal<sup>R</sup>) *E. coli* O157:H7 was monitored over 83 D following oral (3.3 x 10<sup>11</sup> pfu), rectal (1.5 x 10<sup>11</sup> pfu), both oral and rectal (4.8 x 10<sup>11</sup> pfu) or no treatment with an O157-specific bacteriophage cocktail. Orally treated steers presented the fewest (P = 0.06) Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 culture-positive samples compared to rectally and orally + rectally treated steers. This may be attributed to higher (P = 0.03) mean bacteriophage shedding levels (log PFU/g of feces) in orally treated than in rectally treated steers. Control animals obtained bacteriophage *via* the environment, and shed at levels similar to that of REC (P = 0.39). Oral administration of bacteriophage via the feedlot environment may be an efficacious large-scale mitigation strategy for *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would very much like to thank Dr. Tim McAllister for his guidance, patience, and insight throughout the entire research and thesis composition process. Numerous times I made the climb from the basement laboratory to his third floor office in search of direction. I always left feeling motivated and energized. He was very understanding of the "Grad Studies Rollercoaster" and for that I am very grateful.

I must thank Dr. Erasmus Okine, for it was he whose guidance led me into my MSc. program. I am particularly appreciative of his constant reminder of the importance of family. It is easy to let hours slip by in the lab or at the computer, but meetings with Dr. Okine kept me in tune with the world outside. I would also like to thank him for his encouragement during the completion of my course requirements (even if he did get a higher grade than I in RENR580).

Thank you to Dr. Kim Stanford for her help from beginning to end. She provided me with financial support for the term of the phage project. Dr. Stanford was also immensely helpful during the drafting of my research proposal, preparation of my conference abstracts and presentation, and revision of the phage manuscript.

I would like to thank Dr. Susan Bach for her support, which came from a distance. Though she is stationed in Summerland, BC, and I was in Lethbridge, AB, we had to travel to Quebec City to finally meet in person. I very much appreciated her input regarding the phage manuscript and my thesis, as well as her direction during the composition of my literature review. I also valued her support during the Canadian Society of Microbiologists conference. Support from a distance also came from Dr. Roger Johnson and the Public Health Agency of Canada. Dr. Johnson was a fantastic resource for "everything phage". He and his lab staff were very generous in providing me with the opportunity to visit his lab in Guelph and improve upon my skills in working with bacteriophage. He was also of great assistance when editing the phage manuscript.

I must give a very large thank you to Katherine Jakober. I first met Katherine when she helped me to prepare abstracts for the CSM conference. I have never met anyone as talented and invaluable as she. I would also like to thank Katherine for the time she spent calculating data, troubleshooting errors, and formatting and re-formatting figures for the manuscript and my thesis.

Thank you to Dr. Tyler Stevens, Fred Van Herk, and Dr. Toby Entz for their aid in the statistical analysis of phage data that was far beyond my comprehension. Maybe if I had done better in RENR580, I wouldn't have required so much of their time, effort, and skill. Thank you.

I owe a lot of thanks to Merlin Anderson, Brant Baker, Ruth Barbieri, Shaun Cook, Colleen Harlton (TEM imagery), Dongyan Niu, Lorna Selinger, Geoff Wallins, and Homayoun Zahiroddini for their help in preparing bacterial inoculums and phage preparations, administering treatments to the experimental animals, collecting and processing samples, and other technical tasks. Without the graciousness of each of these individuals I would not have succeeded.

I would like to thank my parents. Their encouragement and multi-faceted support (wink wink) was very much appreciated and necessary for my success. I am sure they also gained from this experience, if only by improving their packing and moving skills. Mom and Dad, thank you for allowing me to focus on my work, all the time knowing that you would always be there for me.

Lastly, but importantly, I would like to thank my husband James for his enduring support and the sacrifices he made for the achievement of my goals. I truly valued his commitment to my success. I also greatly appreciated his help in the lab, driving the "zamboni."

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page	
1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1	
1.1. Introduction	1	
1.2. Objectives	2	
1.3. Relevance of Research	3	
1.4. References		
2. LITERATURE REVIEW		
2.1. Escherichia coli O157:H7		
2.1.1. Identification of a human pathogen	7	
2.1.2. Modes of transmission	8	
2.1.3.Cattle as a primary reservoir	8	
2.1.4. Non-bovine sources	10	
2.1.5. Mitigation in cattle	13	
2.2. Bacteriophage		
2.2.1. History	29	
2.2.2. Structure	30	
2.2.3. Classification	32	
2.2.4. Viral replication T4-like bacteriophage	33	
2.3. Conclusions		
2.4. References		

# 3. BACTERIOPHAGE THERAPY FOR CONTROLLING ESCHERICHIA 72 COLI 0157:H7 IN FEEDLOT CATTLE: EFFECT OF ORAL VS. RECTAL ADMINISTRATION

3.1. Introduction	72
3.2. Materials and Methods	74
3.3. Results	83
3.4. Discussion	87
3.5. References	93
4. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	110
4.1. Limitations	110
4.2. General Conclusions	112
4.3. References	115

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
Table 3-1	Odds ratios representing the likelihood of isolating	
	bacteriophage or Nal <sup>R</sup> Escherichia coli O157:H7 from fecal	
	grab samples within a specified treatment group when	
	compared to that of CON samples	99
Table 3-2	Capsid and tail measurements of experimental phage wV7	
	and the endogenous phage	99
Table 3-3	Counts of fecal Nal <sup>R</sup> Escherichia coli O157:H7 isolates	
	exhibiting known or unknown PFGE banding patterns	
	following Xbal digestion of genomic DNA	100
Table 3-4	Relative susceptibilities of known strains of Escherichia coli	
	O157:H7 and two novel isolates to each of the four	
	experimental bacteriophage strains	100
Table 3-5	Counts (and percentages) of environmental samples positive	
	for Nal <sup>R</sup> Escherichia coli O157:H7 and O157-specific	
	bacteriophage	101

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure		Page
Figure 3-1	Fecal shedding and mean shedding levels of bacteriophage in	
	experimentally inoculated steers	102
Figure 3-2	Bacteriophage overlay plates showing small and large	
	plaques and TEM images of the experimental and	
	endogenous phage particles	104
Figure 3-3	Fecal shedding and mean shedding levels of Nal <sup>R</sup> E. coli	
	O157:H7 in experimentally inoculated steers	105
Figure 3-4	Fecal shedding patterns and prevalence of culture-positive E.	
	coli O157:H7 fecal samples from experimentally inoculated	
	steers	107
Figure 3-5	Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis of Xbal-digested genomic	
	DNA from five laboratory strains of Escherichia coli	
	O157:H7 and two isolates that exhibited novel banding	
	patterns	109

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

bp	base pairs		
сс	cubic centimeters		
CFU	colony-forming unit		
CT-SMAC	sorbitol MacConkey agar with cefixime and potassium tellurite		
CT-SMACnal CT-SMAC with nalidixic acid			
D	day		
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid		
ds	double-stranded		
EHEC	Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli		
FYM	farmyard manure		
GIT	Gastrointestinal tract		
gp	gene product		
g	grams		
h	hours		
HMC	hydroxymethylcytosine		
HUS	Hemolytic uremic syndrome		
IMS	immunomagnetic separation		
L	litre		
μg	microgram		
μl	microliter		
μm	micrometer		
mg	milligram		

ml	milliliter
min	minutes
MNA	modified nutrient agar
mTSB	modified tryptic soy broth
mTSB+n	modified tryptic soy broth with nalidixic acid
MOI	multiplicity of infection
nM	nano molar
Nal <sup>R</sup>	nalidixic acid resistant
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PFU	plaque-forming unit
PFGE	pulsed field gel electrophoresis
RNA	ribonucleic acid
S	seconds
SS	single-stranded
STEC	Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli
TEM	Transmission Electron Microscopy
TSB	tryptic soy broth
VTEC	Verotoxigenic Escherichia coli
VFA	Volatile fatty acid
w/v	weight per volume

#### **Chapter 1**

#### **1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Introduction**

*Escherichia coli* O157:H7, the predominant serotype of the enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC) subgroup of Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* (STEC), also know as verotoxigenic *E. coli* (VTEC), is an important pathogen with respect to foodborne illness in Canada. In 2006, the annual incidence rate of *E. coli* O157:H7-related disease was 2.9/100,000 (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2007) This number, however, greatly underestimates the actual incidence of illness as only a quarter of cases are typically reported (Majowicz et al., 2005; Michel et al, 2000). The number of VTEC-related cases decreased from 1997 to 2004 (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2007). However, in 2005 the number rose sharply, and sustained similar levels in 2006 (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2007). Symptoms of infection include watery diarrhea, which can develop into hemorrhagic colitis (Riley et al., 1983). Though patients typically recover from illness, a number develop hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS), a potentially fatal disease of the kidneys (Goldwater, 2007).

There are various modes of transmission of this pathogen to humans, including person-to-person (Mannix et al., 2007; Reida et al., 1994), animal-to-person (Crump et al., 2002) and consumption of contaminated food and water (Cieslak et al., 1993; Sewell and Farber, 2001). Between 1982 and 2002, 41% and 6% of the foodborne *E. coli* O157:H7 outbreaks in the United States were associated with ground beef and other beef products, respectively (Rangel et al., 2005).

Ruminants, particularly cattle, have been identified as a significant reservoir of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Hancock et al., 2001; Rasmussen and Casey, 2001; Renter and Sargeant, 2002) and the contamination of hides and the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 by cattle has been correlated with adulteration of beef products (Elder et al., 2000). For these reasons a great deal of effort has been put into the investigation of methods to control *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle.

Mitigation strategies have included minimizing contact between cattle and the pathogen (farm management), alteration of the gastrointestinal microbes (diet and probiotics), and direct attack methods (immunization and bacteriophage therapy). The use of bacteriophages to treat or prevent infection is not a new concept, as it dates back to the early 1900's. Indeed, researchers in previous studies have used this strategy to eliminate *E. coli* O157:H7 from mice (Tanji et al., 2005; Sheng et al., 2006) and calves (Waddell et al., 2000). However, very few studies have investigated the application of *E. coli* O157-specific bacteriophages to mitigate *E. coli* O157:H7 in adult ruminants (Bach et al., 2003; Sheng et al., 2006).

#### **1.2 Objectives**

The objectives of this research were to assess the use of bacteriophage therapy in mitigating the fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in feedlot cattle and to monitor experimental *E. coli* O157:H7 and O157-specific bacteriophages in the animal environment. A mixture of O157-specific bacteriophages rV5, wV7, wV8, and wV11 were orally, rectally or administered by both routes and assessed for their ability to decrease the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 in orally inoculated feedlot cattle.

Water, feed, and pen-floor manure samples were analyzed for both *E. coli* O157:H7 and O157-specific bacteriophages to identify possible bacteriophage vectors. *E. coli* O157:H7 isolates collected from the beginning and from the end of the 83 D trial were analyzed by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis to determine if certain strains persisted more than others or developed resistance to bacteriophage over the course of the trial. Strains that exhibited slightly altered PFGE patterns were assessed for their susceptibility to the experimental bacteriophage used for therapeutic treatment.

#### **1.3 Relevance of Research**

At this time there is no known study examining the effect of bacteriophage therapy on adult cattle in a feedlot environment. Both bacteriophage and *E. coli* O157:H7 have been isolated from environmental samples and it is thought that cattle can acquire *E. coli* O157:H7 and bacteriophage from the environment. Characterization of the ecological relationship between bacteriophage and their target host could result in the development of more efficacious bacteriophage administration strategies for employment in commercial feedlots.

The only other known O157-specific bacteriophage study in cattle administered bacteriophage both orally and rectally (Sheng et al., 2006). This study was actually published shortly after the present work was completed. The present research compares oral and rectal administration of bacteriophage in establishing bacteriophage populations within feedlot cattle as well as the effectiveness of oral and rectal administration in mitigating the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7.

#### **1.4 References**

- Bach, S. J., T. A. McAllister, D. M. Veira, V. P. J. Gannon, and R. A. Holley. 2003.
  Effect of bacteriophage DC22 on *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in an artificial rumen system (Rusitec) and inoculated sheep. *Anim. Res.* 52:89-101.
- Cieslak, P. R., T. J. Barrett, and P. M. Griffin. 1993. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection from a manured garden. *Lancet*. 342:367.
- Crump, J. A., A. C. Sulka, A. J. Langer, C. Schaben, A. S. Crielly, R. Gage, M.
  Baysinger, M. Moll, G. Withers, D. M. Toney, S. B. Hunter, R. M. Hoekstra, S.
  K. Wong, P. M. Griffin, and T. J. van Gilder. 2002. An outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections among visitors to a diary farm. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 347:555-560.
- Elder, R. O., J. E. Keen, G. R. Siragusa, G. A. Barkocy-Gallagher, M. Koohmaraie, and
  W. W. Laegreid. 2000. Correlation of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*O157:H7 prevalence in feces, hides, and carcasses of beef cattle during
  processing. *PNAS*. 97:2999-3003.
- Goldwater, P. N. 2007. Treatment and prevention of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* infection and hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Expert Rev. Anti. Infect. Ther.* 5:653-663.
- Hancock, D., T. Besser, J. Lejeune, M. Davis, and D. Rice. 2001. The control of VTEC in the animals reservoir. *Int. J. Food. Microbiol.* 66:71-78.
- Majowicz, S. E., V. L. Edge, A. Fazil, W. B. McNab, K. A. Doré, P. N. Sockett, J. A. Flint, D. Middleton, S. A. McEwen, and J. B. Wilson. 2005. Estimating the under-

reporting rate for infectious gastrointestinal illness in Ontario. *Can. J. Public Health.* 96:178-181.

Mannix, M, D. Whyte, E. O. McNamara, N. Connell, R. Fitzgerald, M. Mahony, T.
Prendiville, T. Norris, A. Curtin, A. Carroll, E. Whelan, J. Buckley, J. McCarthy,
M. Murphy, and T. Greally. 2007. Large outbreak of *E. coli* O157 in 2005,
Ireland. *Euro. Surveill*. Available at:

http://www.eurosurveillance.org/em/v12n02/1202-223.asp

- Michel, P. J. B. Wilson, S. W. Martin, R. C. Clarke, S. A. McEwen, and C. L. Gyles.
  2000. Estimation of the under-reporting rate for the surveillance of *Escherichia* coli O157:H7 cases in Ontario, Canada. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 125:35-45.
- PHAC. 2007. C-EnterNet 2006 Annual Report. Available at: http://www.phacaspc.gc.ca/publicat/2007/c-enternet06/pdf/06-areport\_e.pdf. Accessed November 19, 2007.
- Rangel, J. M., P. H. Sparling, C. Crowe, P. M. Griffin, and D. L. Swerdlow. 2005.
  Epidemiology of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreaks, United States, 1982-2002. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 11:603-309.
- Rasmussen, M. A., and T. A. Casey. 2001. Environmental and food safety aspects of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections in cattle. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.* 27:57-73.

Reida, P, M. Wolff, H. W. Pöhls, W. Kuhlmann, A. Lehmacher, S. Aleksić, H. Karch, and J. Bockemühl. 1994. An outbreak due to enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in a children day care centre characterized by person-to-person transmission and environmental contamination. *Zentralbl Bakteriol*. 281:534-543.

- Renter, D. G., and J. M. Sargeant. 2002. Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157: epidemiology and ecology in bovine production environments. *Anim. Health Res. Rev.* 3:83-94.
- Riley, L. W., R. S. Remis, S. D. Helgerson, H. B. McGee, J. G. Wells, B. R. Davis, R. J. Hebert, E. S. Olcott, L. M. Johnson, N. T. Hargrett, P. A. Blake, and M. L. Cohen.
  1983. Hemorrhagic colitis associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 308:381-385.
- Sewell, A. M., and J. M. Farber. 2001. Foodborne outbreaks in Canada linked to produce. *J. Food Prot.* 64:1863-1877.
- Sheng, H., H. J. Knecht, I. T. Kudva, and C. J. Hovde. 2006. Application of bacteriophages to control intestinal *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 levels in ruminants. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 72:5359-5366.
- Tanji, Y., T. Shimada, H. Fukodomi, K. Miyanaga, Y. Nakai, and H. Unno. 2005. Therapeutic use of phage cocktail for controlling *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in gastrointestinal tract of mice. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* 100:280-287.
- Waddell, T., Mazzocco, A., Johnson, R. P., Pacan, J., Campbell, S., Perets, S. A.,
  MacKinnon, J., Holtslander, B., Pope, C., and Gyles, C. 2000. Control of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection in calves by bacteriophages. 4th International
  Symposium and Workshop on Shiga toxin (verocytotoxin)-producing *Escherichia coli* infections. Kyoto, Japan.

#### Chapter 2

#### **2. LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Escherichia coli O157:H7

#### 2.1.1. Identification as a human pathogen

*Escherichia coli* O157:H7 was first identified as a human pathogen following two outbreaks of suspected foodborne illness in the United States in 1982 (Riley et al., 1983; Wells et al., 1983). Patients presented with similar symptoms, including severe abdominal cramping and watery diarrhea, followed by bloody diarrhea. *E. coli* O157:H7, a rarely documented serotype at the time, was isolated from 9 of 12 stool samples collected. Upon further investigation, an association between outbreaks and eating at a particular fast-food chain was found. *E. coli* O157:H7 was then also isolated from a beef patty from a suspected lot of meat which lead investigators to concluded that the pathogen was transmitted by undercooked meat (Riley et al., 1983).

*Escherichia coli* O157:H7 is the most dominant disease-causing serotype in the EHEC group (Coia, 1998; Hockin and Lior, 1987; Karmali, 1989; Smith and Scotland, 1988). *E. coli* serotypes included in this group are characterized by causing hemorrhagic colitis and hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) (Levine, 1988; Nataro and Kaper, 1998). Serotypes in this category also express high levels of Shiga toxins (or verotoxins, verocytotoxins) (Levine and Vial, 1988, O'Brien and Holmes, 1987; O'Brien and Kaper, 1998; Paton and Paton; 1998), which are involved in the pathogenesis of these bacteria.

#### 2.1.2. Modes of Transmission

A recent study examined the epidemiology of *E. coli* O157:H7 outbreaks that occurred in the United States between 1982 and 2002 (Rangel et al., 2005). The modes of transmission that have been associated with human illness include foodborne (see references below), person-to-person (Belongia et al., 1993), waterborne (Friedman et al., 1999; Licence et al., 2001; Swerdlow et al., 1992; Verma et al., 2007), animal contact (Ogden et al., 2002) and laboratory-related, with foodborne transmission being associated with 52% of the recorded outbreaks (Rangel et al., 2005). A large number (21%) of outbreaks reported no identified source (Panaro et al., 1990; Rangel et al., 2005).

Foodborne outbreaks have been attributed to the consumption of produce (Ackers et al., 1998; Cieslak et al., 1997; Hilborn et al., 1999), dairy products (Clark et al., 1997; Espie et al., 2006; Goh et al., 2002; Liptakova et al., 2004; McIntyre et al., 2002), juices (Besser et al., 1993; Cody et al., 1999) and beef/meat products (Bell et al., 1994; Belongia et al., 1991; Riley et al., 1983; Stevenson and Hanson, 1996; Willshaw et al., 1994). According to Rangel et al., (2005), 47% of outbreaks between 1982 and 2002 were associated with the consumption of ground beef or other beef products.

#### 2.1.3. Cattle as a primary reservoir of *E. coli* O157:H7

Ruminants, particularly cattle, are considered to be a primary reservoir of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Hancock et al., 2001; Rasmussen and Casey, 2001; Renter and Sargeant, 2002). Illness associated with *E. coli* O157:H7 is often linked to the consumption of beef and dairy products (Bell et al., 1994; Borczyk et al., 1987; Buchanan and Doyle, 1997; Currie et al., 2007; Griffin and Tauxe, 1991; Honish et al., 2007; Jay et al., 2004; Laine et al., 2005 Martin et al., 1986; Maruzumi et al., 2005; Ostroff et al., 1990; Padhye and

Doyle, 1992; Riley et al., 1983; Wells et al., 1983, and Willshaw et al., 1994), food and water that has been contaminated with bovine feces (Armstrong et al., 1996; Besser et al., 1993; Borczyk et al., 1987; Chapman et al., 1993; Chapman et al., 1997; Doyle, 1991; Hancock et al., 1994; Mead and Griffin, 1998), or contact with ruminant animals (Crump et al., 2003, Renwick et al., 1993; Rice et al., 1995; Synge et al., 1993). It has also been found that the incidence of human illness tends to coincide with the seasonal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 by cattle (Hancock et al., 1997; Ostroff et al., 1989; Martin et al., 1990)

Fecal prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 in individual cattle has been shown to range from 0% to 18.8% and from 0% to 95.5% among herds or feedlots, respectively (Callaway et al., 2006; Callaway et al., 2004; Cho et al., 2006; Dargatz et al., 1997; Dunn et al., 2004; Eriksson et al., 2005; Ezawa et al., 2004; Fegan et al., 2004; Keen and Elder, 2000; Khaitsa et al., 2006; Renter et al., 2004; Riley et al., 2003; Sargeant et al., 2004; Schouten et al., 2004; Stanford et al., 2005; Vicente et al., 2005). However, it is difficult to truly estimate the prevalence of E. coli O157:H7 in a herd or cattle population at any given time for a number of reasons. Cattle harboring the pathogen are apparently healthy, showing no clinical signs of disease (Borczyk et al., 1987; Chapman et al., 1993; Chapman et al., 1997; Hancock et al., 1994; Mechie et al., 1997; Montenegro et al., 1990; Wells et al., 1991; Zhao et al., 1995). Also, the fecal shedding of E. coli O157:H7 appears to be transient and seasonal, with shedding periods ranging from days to months and peak prevalence occurring between April and September (Besser et al., 1997; Besser and Hancock, 1994; Chapman et al., 1997; Hancock et al., 1997; Hancock et al., 1994; Lynn et al., 1998; Mechie et al., 1997; Rahn et al., 1997; Sanderson et al., 1999; Van Donkersgoed et al., 2001; Wray et al., 2000). Finally, it is felt that commonly used

methods to determine the prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7, such as isolation and culturing from feces, underestimates the actual herd prevalence (Keen and Elder, 2002).

#### 2.1.4. Non-Bovine Sources

It is likely that reservoirs other than cattle contribute to the presence of *E. coli* O157:H7 subtypes in various geographical locations (Shere et al., 1998). Many nonbovine species have been identified as carriers of *E. coli* O157:H7 including horses, pigs, birds, deer, sheep, dogs, flies, pigeons, raccoons, rats, and insects (Chapman et al., 1997; Cizek et al., 1999; Hancock et al., 1998; Keene et al., 1997; Kudva et al., 1997; Kudva et al., 1996; Sargeant et al., 1999; Shere et al., 1998). Cattle frequently have contact with other animals in their environment and this contact, either directly or indirectly, may be a means of exposure to *E. coli* O157:H7 (Cizek et al., 2000; Rice et al., 2003; Sargeant et al., 1999; Van Donkersgoed et al., 2001) and continued maintenance of the pathogen in a herd.

## 2.1.4.1. Water

Water troughs could potentially be a non-bovine reservoir of *E. coli* O157:H7 on farms and in feedlots, with a prevalence ranging from 1.5 - 13 % (Faith et al., 1996; Hancock et al., 1998; Renter et al., 2003; Sargeant et al., 2000; Shere et al., 1998; Van Donkersgoed et al., 2001). Experimentally, *E. coli* O157:H7 persisted in 8 °C water for 91 D with only a 2 log decrease (CFU ml<sup>-1</sup>) in population over this period (Wang and Doyle, 1998). *E. coli* O157:H7 has also been shown to replicate in water (Wang and Doyle, 1998) and it does appear that water sources play a role in the persistence of *E. coli* 

O157:H7 infection within a herd. Similar *E. coli* O157:H7 isolates have been found in both water and cattle fecal samples on the same farm (Faith et al., 1996; Hancock et al., 1998). Fecal contamination of water likely leads to the perpetual re-infection of cattle, and the persistence of *E. coli* O157:H7 on the farm.

#### 2.1.4.2. Feed

There is conflicting data regarding the prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle feed. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 was not found in several surveys of cattle feeds (Hancock et al., 1998; Lynn et al., 1998), while other studies have found a proportion of feedstuffs to be contaminated (Bach et al., 2005; Buchko et al., 2000a; Dodd et al., 2003; Hancock et al., 2001; McAllister et al., 2006; Shere et al., 1998). Several studies have shown that *E. coli* O157:H7 can grow in silage and grain (Fenlon and Wilson, 2000; Lynn et al., 1998) with high lactate and low propionate concentrations being associated with enhanced growth in corn silage (Lynn et al., 1998).

*Escherichia coli* has been frequently isolated from cattle diets (30.1%; Lynn et al., 1998) but generic *E. coli* may not be a good indicator of the degree that diets can serve as an infectious source of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Dodd et al., 2003). A study by Dodd et al., (2003) showed no correlation between generic coliform counts and prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 in mixed feed samples. Adulteration of cattle feed with *E. coli* O157:H7 may play a limited role in the infection and reinfection of cattle. Unlike water, the prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 in feed does not appear to be associated with the seasonal prevalence of fecal shedding in cattle (Smith et al., 2001). This would suggest that the higher shedding levels found during the summer are not due to infection via contaminated

feedstuffs. Further, higher prevalence rates have been found in feeds that have been exposed to cattle (Dodd et al., 2003) than in feedstuffs that have not, suggesting that *E. coli* O157:H7 enters feed as a result of *contact* of the feed with cattle. Consequently, feeds that have not had direct contact with cattle are unlikely to be a source of *E. coli* O157:H7.

#### 2.1.4.3. Manure and soil

Numerous studies have investigated the survival of *E. coli* O157:H7 in manure and soil (Avery et al., 2004; Bolton et al., 1999; Hutchison et al., 2005; Hutchison et al., 2004; Jones, 1999; Ogden et al., 2002). The spreading of farmyard manure (FYM) and fecal slurries from livestock production units onto agricultural land is a common waste management practice. However, this practice may result in contamination of food and water (Cieslak et al., 1993; Ogden et al., 2001; Pell, 1997) and contribute to the maintenance of this pathogen in a herd. Bolton et al., (1999) noted a 4 - 5 magnitude decrease in *E. coli* O157:H7 populations 50 D after the spreading of inoculated manure on grazing land. In another study, it took 63 D and 32 D for *E. coli* O157:H7 populations (approximately  $10^6$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup>) to be undetectable in inoculated FYM from sheep and beef, respectively (Hutchison et al., 2005). Further, *E. coli* O157:H7 was detected for 8 weeks in soil core samples after application of inoculated waste to grassland (Avery et al., 2004).

#### **2.1.5 Mitigation in Cattle**

## 2.1.5.1. Farm Management

Cattle are grazing animals, and bacteria are ubiquitous in the environment. Elimination of *E. coli* O157:H7 from the environment is therefore unlikely but a variety of management practices have been investigated for their ability to minimize exposure of cattle to this pathogen.

#### 2.1.5.1.1. Water Sources

Chlorination of water to reduce E. coli O157:H7 is successful in vitro, though it is not efficacious on-farm. Administration of chlorine at various concentrations decreased E. coli O157:H7 populations in water (LeJeune et al., 2001; Rice et al., 1999; Zhao et al., 2001). For example, the application of chlorine (5ppm) to an experimentally inoculated water source resulted in a  $10^6 - 10^7$  decrease in *E. coli* O157:H7 (CFU/ml) (Doyle, 2003). Though E. coli O157:H7 has demonstrated minimal chlorine tolerance, the presence of organic material, in the form of rumen fluid or feces inactivates the bactericidal effect of chlorine. In the above mentioned study, the addition of rumen fluid (at a ratio of 100:1 water:rumen fluid) neutralized the ability of chlorine to kill E. coli O157:H7 (Doyle, 2003). Furthermore, on-farm surveys do not show an effect of chlorine on E. coli O157:H7 populations. The presence of organic material in water troughs may account for the lack of efficacy of chlorine in these studies. Samples collected from chlorinated and unchlorinated water troughs did not differ statistically in the frequency or numerical isolation of E. coli O157:H7 (LeJeune et al., 2004). As cattle frequently contaminate their water source with feces, chlorination may be an impractical method of controlling E. coli O157:H7 on farm

It is not clear whether water trough cleaning is beneficial for reducing *E. coli* O157:H7. Frequent cleaning would limit the build-up of organic material and reduce the level of *E. coli* O157:H7 present. Removal of organic material would also improve the efficacy of those mitigation strategies that are inhibited by ruminal and fecal contamination (Callaway et al., 2002). However, the frequency of trough cleanings required to minimize contamination may be unrealistic under production conditions, as water maybe re-contaminated by colonized cattle shortly after cleaning. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 has also been shown to survive longer in sterile water than water from unsterile sources (Kerr et al., 1999; McGee et al., 2002). Various microbial populations existing in contaminated water may limit *E. coli* O157:H7 survival and replication by competitive exclusion or predation (Flint, 1987; Korhonen and Martikainen, 1991).

Sodium caprylate (120 nM) inactivated *E. coli* O157:H7 in water (Amalaradjou et al., 2006). Inclusion of cattle feces in the water slightly inhibited the effect of sodium caprylate, while the inclusion of feed amplified the effect. Palatability of the water as a result of inclusion of sodium caprylate was not tested.

Lactic and butyric acid have shown limited success in their ability to reduce *E*. *coli* O157:H7 in water (Doyle, 2003; Zhao et al., 2006). Various mixtures of lactic acid, acidic calcium sulfate, caprylic acid, butyric acid, and sodium benzoate, had little effect on *E. coli* O157:H7 levels in water containing rumen contents (100:1) *in vitro*, however greater concentrations of butyric acid ( $\geq$ 2%) and caprylic acid ( $\geq$ 0.1%) decreased *E. coli* O157:H7 levels by > 5 log CFU/ml in water (*in vitro*) after 20 minutes. These combinations were also bactericidal to *E. coli* O26:H11 and *E. coli* O111:NM in the presence of rumen fluid and cattle feces (Zhao et al., 2006). Unfortunately, administration

of these chemicals to water troughs significantly decreased the water intake of dairy heifers, making this an impractical mitigation strategy (Doyle, 2003; Zhao et al, 2006).

#### 2.1.5.1.2. Feed

Thermal treatment of inoculated high and low energy feed rations resulted in decreased *E. coli* O157:H7 populations (Hutchison et al., 2007). The killing effect of the treatments increased with increasing temperature. Heating at 50 - 55 °C for 600 s resulted in reductions of approximately 1.6 logs. A 2.2 log<sub>10</sub> decrease was found when rations were treated at 70 °C for 120 s. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 survived heat treatment better in a high energy grain-based diet than a low energy diet at lower temperatures, however thermal destruction of *E. coli* O157:H7 at 70 °C was similar for both diets.

During storage of feed prior to treatment, decreases in *E. coli* O157:H7 populations were consistently noted in the low energy diet. This decrease in population was attributed to indigenous bacterial populations inhibiting *E. coli* O157:H7. The authors noted that naturally occurring *E. coli* O157:H7 in the feed might show greater resistance to treatment than inoculated strains due to their greater environmental fitness. This may extend to other environmental challenges as acid tolerant *E. coli* O157:H7 strains have also exhibited enhanced heat tolerance (Tosun and Gonul, 2005).

#### 2.1.5.1.3. Housing conditions

Wet, muddy, and manure filled pens have been linked to the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 by cattle (Smith et al., 2001; Stanford et al., 2005), likely due to the ability of *E. coli* O157:H7 to survive in manure (Kudva et al., 1998). In a survey of dairy

operations, dairy cattle housed in well drained pens were less likely to shed *E. coli* O157:H7 than those housed in pens in which manure and mud were allowed to accumulate (Stanford et al., 2005). Other practices such as flushing of alleys (Garber et al., 1999) and the development of dusty housing conditions (Zucker and Muller, 2000) may also promote the distribution of *E. coli* O157:H7 within housing environments.

## 2.1.5.1.4. Animal Density

Prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 culture-positive animals may also be positively correlated with animal density (Garber et al., 1995; Vidovic and Korber, 2006). Higher pen densities likely increase the spread of pathogens throughout a feedlot by increasing incidences of direct contact between shedding and non-shedding animals as well as the degree of environmental contamination (Vidovic and Korber, 2006). Other studies examining the prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 with respect to housing density in livestock did not identify a significant relationship (Hutchison et al., 2005; Rugbjerg et al., 2003). This could be due to differences in factors such as housing conditions, bedding types, and activity and age of the cattle. Reducing cattle density within feedlots may be one means of lowering the transmission and shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7.

## 2.1.5.1.5. Animal Sorting

Numerous studies have identified heifers as typically having the highest prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 among cattle groups (Garber et al., 1995; Hancock et al., 1994; Wilson et al., 1992). Stanford et al., (2005) found that calves and heifers had a higher prevalence of shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 than adult dairy cattle. Alternately,

pens containing greater than 85% beef-type heifers have been associated with a reduced likelihood of the pen being positive for *E. coli* O157:H7 (Dargatz et al., 1997). In beef production, however, it is not feasible to separate cow-calf pairs, and as a result animal sorting cannot be employed as a management practice to lower transmission of *E. coli* O157:H7 within a herd.

## 2.1.5.2. Diet

Feedlot diets typically contain high levels of grain to optimize the efficiency of growth (Huntington, 1997). However, these starchy feedstuffs also alter the ruminal and intestinal environment. For this reason, numerous studies have looked at the effects of diet on the shedding and survival of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Bach et al., 2005; Berg et al., 2004; Buchko et al., 2000a; Garber et al., 1995; Hancock et al., 1997; Herriot et al., 1998; LeJeune et al, 2004; Russell and Rychlik, 2001; Sargeant et al., 2004).

#### 2.1.5.2.1. Feedstuffs

Various feedstuffs have been shown to alter the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7. A number of studies have shown that feeding barley diets as compared to corn diets is associated with increased fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Berg et al., 2004; Buchko et al., 2000a; Dargatz et al., 1997; Herriott et al., 1998) whereas others have not identified such a relationship (Garber et al., 1995; Hancock et al., 1997). Buchko et al., (2000a) compared the *E. coli* O157:H7 status of yearling steers when fed one of three diets (85% cracked corn, 15% whole cottonseed + 70% barley, or 85% barley). Levels of *E. coli* O157:H7-positive fecal samples were higher in cattle fed 85% barley than in cattle

fed the other two diets. Berg et al., (2004) found a higher prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7positive samples and a higher average magnitude of shedding (CFU/g) in cattle fed barley-based diets compared to cattle fed corn-based diets. Cottonseed meal, corn silage and beet pulp also have been shown to increase carriage (Sargeant et al., 2004) whereas whole cottonseed, clover and corn (Garber et al., 1995; LeJeune et al, 2004) have been shown to decrease shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7.

Acid resistance may be induced in *E. coli* by feeding high concentrate diets. Naturally, ruminants are grazers, and symbiotic microbes within the rumen accomplish digestion of fibrous plant material. Some microbes in the rumen are capable of fermenting sugars and starches with the majority of starch fermentation (microbial) occurring in the rumen (Russell and Rychlik, 2001). Grain may pass through the rumen undigested when animals are fed high concentrate diets, resulting in bacterial fermentation of starch in the colon and cecum. Consequently, colonic pH declines and starch-fermenting, acid-resistant bacteria predominate (Russell and Rychlik, 2001). E. *coli* O157:H7 is one such bacterium capable of starch fermentation and has demonstrated extreme acid resistance (Diez-Gonzalez and Russell 1997). Acidic conditions due to high volatile fatty acid concentrations, a characteristic of high-grain diets, did not affect survival of E. coli O157:H7 in vitro (Boukhors et al., 2002). However, Shin et al., (2002) showed that VFAs can inhibit the growth of E. coli O157:H7, though at VFA concentrations much higher than one would expect to find in any region of the bovine GIT (Ward et al., 1961).

Initial studies suggested that the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 might be decreased when cattle are switched from a high concentrate to a roughage diet prior to

slaughter (Diez-Gonzalez et al, 1998). However, subsequent studies were unable to repeat this result (Callaway et al., 2003; Hovde et al., 1999; Kudva et al., 1999; Kudva et al., 1997) and exclusive feeding of hay diets has actually shown to prolong *E. coli* O157:H7 carriage (Hovde et al, 1999).

## 2.1.5.2.2. Fasting

As previously mentioned, starch digestion results in the production of VFAs, and these VFAs have been shown to have an inhibitory effect on *E. coli* O157:H7 (Shin et al., 2002). Cattle are often fasted prior to slaughter as a result of transport and lairage (Wood et al., 2006) and a number of studies have questioned if prolonged fasting leads to a higher prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Buchko et al., 2000b; Harmon et al., 1999; Jordan et al., 1999). Fasting has been shown to decrease VFA concentrations and increase pH in the rumen, but it did not have an effect on the ruminal or fecal populations of *E. coli* O157:H7 in calves (Harmon et al., 1999). Another study found that intermittent fasting after feeding a concentrate diet (80% barley) or a 100% forage ration (alfalfa) did not alter the shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle (Buchko et al., 2000b). However, subsequent re-feeding of a 100% forage ration did significantly increase fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Buchko et al., 2000b). A simulation study by Jordan et al., (1999) did not predict prolonged fasting to have an impact on *E. coli* O157:H7 populations.

## 2.1.5.3. Probiotics

The term probiotic, as defined by Fuller (1989), encompasses commensal bacteria administered for the purpose of pathogen exclusion. Exclusion may be in the form of competition for attachment sites and nutrients, or antagonism by the production of anti-

microbial substances. The effectiveness of probiotic bacteria is enhanced when they multiply within the animal and integrate into the normal flora. They should also be able to survive extended periods of storage to facilitate use.

# 2.1.5.3.1. Colicins

Zhao et al., (1998) was the first to examine probiotics as a means of mitigating *E. coli* O157 in cattle. Previous work (Murinda et al., 1996) had demonstrated the existence of *E. coli* strains with anti-O157 activity as a result of the production of O157antagonistic colicins. Colicins are antibiotics that are produced by, and target, *E. coli* strains in response to stress. Potential probiotic bacteria were isolated from cattle feces and GIT and tested for inhibitory activity against *E. coli* O157. By providing calves with a probiotic mixture (17 non-O157 *E. coli* isolates and one *Proteus mirabilis* isolate, isolated from cattle feces or cattle GIT tissue), Zhao et al. (1998) hypothesized that the probiotic bacteria would colonize the GIT and release anti-O157 compounds into the intestinal milieu. Probiotic treatment did in fact reduce the duration of ruminal carriage of *E. coli* O157:H7 in treated calves compared to the duration of carriage in control animals; however, the specific mechanism of inhibition was not addressed. Multiple probiotic treatments have been suggested as a means of improving the clearance of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Zhao et al., 1998).

The potential of colicin to inhibit *E. coli* O157:H7 improved with the isolation of colicins with anti-*E. coli* O157 activity (Jordi et al., 2001). This group also discussed the idea of "constructing" colicin-producing bacteria from resident ruminal non-*E. coli* 

bacteria. Using non-*E. coli* bacterial strains would decrease the chance of conferring colicin production to *E. coli* O157:H7

Schamberger and Diez-Gonzalez (2002) investigated the presence of anti-O157 colicinogenic *E. coli* in species other than cattle. Based on the principle that the type of colicin produced is species-specific (Riley and Gordon, 1996), *E. coli* O157:H7 strains present in cattle should theoretically not be resistant to colicins produced by non-cattle *E. coli* isolates. The highest rate of *E. coli* isolates demonstrating activity against *E. coli* O157:H7 were collected from sheep and deer, with up to 63% of *E. coli* isolates inhibiting *E. coli* O157 (Schamberger and Diez-Gonzalez, 2002). This group also noted that inhibition was in fact partially due to the production of colicins, and not just competition for nutrients or binding sites. They demonstrated this by showing an increase in *E. coli* O157:H7 inhibition when *E. coli* O157:H7 was combined with colicinogenic bacteria versus when combined with non-colicinogenic bacteria. Further work showed that  $10^8$  CFU colicinogenic bacteria /g of feed could significantly reduce *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle (Schamberger et al., 2004).

# 2.1.5.3.2. Lactic acid bacteria

Lactic acid bacteria can also decrease the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7. A number of *Lactobacillus* isolates, tolerant of acid (pH 2) and bile, significantly decreased *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle manure and rumen fluid (Brashears et al, 2003a). Feeding a *Lactobacillus acidophilus* preparation decreased the fecal shedding and the contamination of hides with *E. coli* O157:H7 (Brashears et al, 2003b). Live weight gain and feed intakes did not differ with treatment. A subsequent study showed that two
*Lactobacillus* species inhibited *E. coli* O157:H7 attachment to intestinal epithelial cells by inducing intestinal cell expression of mucins (Mack et al., 1999). Mucins were shown to bind to *E. coli* O157:H7 inhibiting subsequent attachment to intestinal cells (Mack et al., 1999). Multiple studies have demonstrated the success of numerous lactobacilli capable of reducing *E. coli* O157:H7 carriage in cattle (Stephens et al., 2007; Younts-Dahl et al., 2005; Younts-Dahl et al., 2004). A recent study showed *L. acidophilus* alters the transcription of *E. coli* O157:H7 genes involved in colonization (Medellin-Pena et al., 2007).

A bifidobacteria was also shown to enhance specific and non-specific immune response in mice against *E. coli* O157:H7 (Shu et al., 2001). *Bifidobacterium lactis* has been shown to enhance phagocytic capacity of blood leukocytes and macrophage (Arunachalam et al., 2000; Gill et al., 2000) and increase intestinal IgA antibody response against various bacteria (Fukushima et al., 1999; Mestecky and Russell, 1998).

## 2.1.5.4. Tasco-14

Several studies have looked at the use of Tasco-14, an extract from the seaweed species *Ascophyllum nodosum*, in mitigating *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle. Braden et al., 2004 determined that including 2% Tasco-14 in the diet of cattle significantly reduced the number of animals shedding *E. coli* O157:H7 in their feces. Tasco appears to directly affect the survival of *E. coli* O157:H7 in the animal GIT (Braden et al., 2004). More recently, Bach et al., (2008) reported that feeding steers *A. nodosum* (20g/kg diet DM) reduced the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7. A benefit to Tasco supplementation is the relatively short supplementation period (roughly 14 d) required to significantly reduce *E*.

*coli* O157:H7 shedding in comparison to the greater time requirement of other strategies such as the feeding of lactic acid bacteria.

#### 2.1.5.5. Antibiotics

There is much debate over the use of antibiotics in cattle production, mostly due to concerns over the development of antibiotic resistance in numerous bacterial species. *E. coli* O157:H7 isolates have shown resistance towards cefazolin, cephalothin, osacillin, vancomycin, trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, ceftiofur, ampicillin, tetracycline, amoxicillin, florfenicol, spectinomycin, rifampin, tylosin (McAllister et al., 2006), penicillin, clindamycin, erythromycin, and tilmicosin (Galland et al., 2001). It is important to note, however, that most of these antibiotics are not targeted at *E. coli*.

The antibiotic neomycin sulfate has been shown to decrease fecal *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle (Elder et al., 2002; Ransom et al., 2003). In fact administration of neomycin was shown to be more effective in reducing the fecal and hide prevalence of *E. coli* O157:H7 than vaccination or feeding of *L. acidophilus* (Woerner et al., 2007). Neomycin is commonly withdrawn from the diet for a period of 24 h prior to slaughter as a means of diminishing the presence of antibiotic residues in beef products. Though administration of this antibiotic has been effective, *E. coli* O157:H7 has shown resistance to neomycin (Stephan and Schumacher, 2001). Carriage of *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle is asymptomatic and appears to have no negative health consequences for the animal. For this reason, and concerns regarding antibiotic resistance, it is highly unlikely that antibiotics will be used as a means of mitigating *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle.

# 2.1.5.6. Immunization

Anti-*E. coli* O157 vaccines have been developed to target antigenic components of the pathogen's type III secretion apparatus and related proteins. Adherence to host cells is necessary for colonization. A pathogenicity island called the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) encodes proteins involved in the attachment of *eae*-positive *E. coli* O157:H7 to host cells. Vaccines targeting colonization factors encoded by LEE include anti-Tir, anti-EspA (type III *E. coli* secreted protein), and anti-intimin (Dziva et al., 2007; Potter et al., 2004).

A vaccine targeting both Tir and Esp was successful in reducing the number of culture positive animals as well as the duration of shedding as compared to control animals (Potter et al., 2004). A follow-up study tested the vaccine on a field scale. One hundred and nine feedlot pens of cattle from nine different feedlots were administered the vaccine. Contrary to the laboratory, results administration of this vaccine to cattle in feedlots did not change the proportion of cattle positive for *E. coli* O157:H7 (Van Donkersgoed et al., 2005). Discrepancies were attributed to variation in the manufacturers of the vaccine and the number of booster vaccinations administered. A second intimin-specific vaccine reduced the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 in mice (Judge et al., 2004).

Subsequent attempts at vaccine-focused mitigation of *E. coli* O157:H7 have not been successful at reducing the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle (Dziva et al., 2007; van Diemen et al., 2007). Though capable of inducing an immune response, vaccination did not protect cattle from colonization. The bacterial cell may not

continuously express adherence proteins and therefore immune attack may be limited to the time between the expression of such attachment proteins and host cell attachment.

The O157 antigen and various other antigens have also been the target of anti-*E. coli* O157:H7 vaccines. Most have been successful in inducing a specific immune response to the administered antigen, however vaccination against the O157 antigen has not reduced the shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 by animals challenged with the bacteria (Conlan et al., 2000; Conlan et al., 1999). Vaccination still offers promise as a mitigation strategy for *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle but further work is required to develop an efficacious feedlot vaccine.

# 2.1.5.7. Bacteriophage therapy and E. coli O157:H7

Bacteriophages are highly specific, bacterial viruses. Details regarding bacteriophages and their properties are found below (Section 2.2).

Bacteriophage specific to the O157 antigen of *E. coli* O157:H7 were isolated in 1999 by Kudva et al., and have been successfully isolated in many subsequent studies (Bach et al., 2003; Capparelli et al., 2006; Fischer et al., 2004; Mizoguchi et al., 2003; Morita et al., 2002; Muniesa and Jofre 2004; O'Flynn et al., 2004; Oot et al., 2007; Sheng et al., 2006; Tanji et al., 2004; Tanji et al., 2005).

Oral administration of O157-specific bacteriohpage quickly eliminated the pathogen from the gastrointestinal tract of mice (Tanji et al., 2005). *In vitro* work showed a slight decrease in the effectiveness of phage under anaerobic conditions versus aerobic conditions. However, *in vivo*, bacteriophage successfully eliminated *E. coli* O157:H7 in

murine hosts (Tanji et al., 2005). Subsequent studies were also able to eliminate *E. coli* O157:H7 from mice using bacteriophage specific to *E. coli* O157 (Sheng et al., 2006).

No effect of bacteriophage was found when lambs were orally administered  $10^{13}$  PFU of bacteriophage DC22 two days post-inoculation with *E. coli* O157:H7 strain E318N (Bach et al., 2003). Bacteriophages were found in the feces of the treated sheep for eight days following administration. Bacteriophage DC22 required a high MOI ( $10^5$  PFU/CFU) to efficiently lyse *E. coli* O157:H7, a property that is undesirable for a therapeutic phage. The authors also suggested that multiple doses of a cocktail of phage may have greater success in mitigating *E. coli* O157:H7.

The application of bacteriophage to challenged calves has produced conflicting results regarding effectiveness. Phage has been shown to completely eliminate *E. coli* O157:H7 in experimentally inoculated calves (Waddell et al., 2000). Treatment of calves with phage shortened the shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 by six days as compared to calves that were inoculated with *E. coli* O157:H7 but not treated. In another study, however, the shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 was only temporarily decreased with phage treatment (Goodridge and Chase, 2006). Both authors did note a sizeable increased in phage titre as *E. coli* O157:H7 counts declined. This would suggest that decreases in *E. coli* O157:H7 were influenced by the presence of virulent bacteriophage. Dissimilarities in the effect of bacteriophage on *E. coli* O157:H7 populations in these two trials were likely due to differences in experimental design. A single application of phage was unable to significantly lower *E. coli* O157:H7 shedding (Goodridge and Chase, 2006) whereas multiple doses eliminated the organism from calves (Waddell et al., 2000).

Recently, administration of a two-phage mixture to the recto-anal junction of 5 six-month old steers decreased, but did not eliminate, the fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Sheng et al., 2006). The recto anal-junction had previously been identified as the primary site of *E. coli* O157:H7 colonization in cattle (Naylor et al., 2003). Rectal application of  $10^6$  PFU of the phage mixture to each steer, and a constant supply of phage in the drinking water, significantly reduced *E. coli* O157:H7 carriage (CFU/rectal swab) as compared to untreated steers. However, *E. coli* O157:H7 was still isolated from four of the five treated steers. Sheng et al., (2006) suggested that the lack of an immune reponse may be the reason why *E. coli* O157:H7 was not eliminated from the steers.

Phage-resistant bacteria have appeared during bacteriophage therapy (Smith and Huggins, 1982; Tanji et al., 2005), but careful selection of bacteriophage may minimize the development of resistance. Phage-resistant bacteria were noted in early *E. coli*/phage studies (Smith and Huggins, 1982). In this case, however, the bacteriophage utilized was specific to a capsular antigen involved in pathogenicity. This intuitive concept meant that if phage resistance developed, through loss or alteration of the target antigen, it would also be accompanied by a significant loss of virulence.

Bovine and ovine feces, as well as rumen samples, have been popular sources for the isolation of phage. The ovine rumen alone has been estimated to contain  $3.9 \times 10^9$  and  $1.4 \times 10^{10}$  phage particles/ml of rumen fluid (Klieve and Swain, 1993). Isolation of phages from sources regionally distant from the intended recipient animals may be of particular advantage. Predominating *E. coli* O157:H7 strains are likely to differ among species and regions. Using phages from environments that differ from those of the host

may reduce the likelihood of targeted *E. coli* O157:H7 strains developing resistance, however, specificity of such phages to the target host may also be reduced.

Certain characteristics are required for phages to be useful in phage therapy. Phages must be specific to their target host cell. For example, when isolating phages specific to *E. coli* O157:H7, they are analyzed for their ability to lyse a culture of *E. coli* O157:H7 or to form plaques on a lawn of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Kudva et al., 1999). Of course, demonstrating that a phage possesses virulence towards *E. coli* O157:H7 does not dismiss the possibility that the phage may be virulent towards other serotypes. Therefore, it is necessary to test the ability of the phage to lyse other *E. coli* serotypes such as *E. coli* O111 and O5 (Kudva et al., 1999). Specificity is necessary when the intended targets of phages reside in the ruminant digestive tract, as inadvertent inhibition of bacteria involved in feed digestion would be an undesirable outcome of phage therapy.

Phages must also demonstrate a high virulence towards the target host cell for phage therapy to be efficacious. Collision between a virion and its target cell is necessary for infection and it is likely that such events occur infrequently within the large volume of digesta present in ruminants. When a collision does occur, it is necessary for adsorption and infection to take place. Virulence is often assessed by combining a known concentration of host cells with varying concentration of phage particles and determining the lowest PFU/ml at which complete lysis occurs (Johnson et al., 2006). The ratio of PFU/CFU is called the multiplicity of infection (MOI). Multiplicity of infection and the virulence of a bacteriophage are inversely related. An MOI of 10<sup>3</sup> PFU/CFU is generally considered to demonstrate a level of sufficient virulence for phage therapy to be successful (Kudva et al., 1999).

Phages demonstrating high levels of virulence are typically lytic, that is, they enter the host cell, take over host cell machinery, replicate and lyse the host cell upon release. Lysogenic, or temperate, phages can follow the lytic pathway, but more often, viral nucleic acid of the temperate phage is integrated into the genome of the host cell. Viral nucleic acid can remain in this state for many cycles of host reproduction, with no affect on the host. For this reason, lytic phages are much more effective for use in bacteriophage therapy than temperate phage.

Phages must survive delivery into the harsh conditions of the ruminant digestive tract, particularly, low pH (Tanji et al., 2005). *E. coli* O157:H7 has been shown to primarily colonize the lower intestinal tract of ruminants, and most recently, the rectoanal junction (Naylor et al., 2003). For infectious phage to pass to this site of colonization it must survive the microbially active environment of the rumen and the acidic environment of the abomasum. Some O157-specific phages are acid-tolerant with only a one-log decrease in titre at pH values as low as 3 (Johnson et al., 2006).

Finally, phages must not possess genes coding for virulence factors of pathogenic *E. coli* as it is possible for gene transfer to occur between the phage and the host (Brabban et al., 2005). The absence of such genes limits the risk of emergence of strains of *E. coli* O157:H7 with an even broader platform of virulence traits.

## 2.2 Bacteriophage

# 2.2.1. History

Discovery of the bacteriophage was shared by both Frederick William Twort and Felix Hubert d'Herelle. Twort was the first to document the phenomena of plaque

formation in 1915 (Twort, 1915), which he identified during an attempt to grow vaccinia virus. Twort noticed that contaminating colonies of micrococcus appeared to be diseased, exhibiting "watery-looking" areas on agar media (Twort, 1949). Microscopic investigation of the afflicted bacteria showed that the cells had degenerated into granules. He also determined that the disease-causing agent was filterable and therefore very small and he speculated that it was a fluid form of life or "an enzyme with the power of growth" (Twort, 1915).

Between 1917 and 1915 d'Herelle made similar observations, but came up with the hypothesis that a virus, capable of infecting bacteria, was the cause of such occurrences (d'Herelle, 1949; Institut Pasteur, 2007). During both a study of diseased locusts and the investigation of a dysentery epidemic, d'Herelle observed bactericidal occurrences such as transparent regions on bacterial lawns as well as clearing of once turbid cultures when combined with the filtrate of samples containing the isolated pathogen. At this point d'Herelle hypothesized that the bactericidal effect was due to a filterable virus that was parasitic to bacteria (d'Herelle, 1949). There was significant debate regarding d'Herelle's hypothesis of a bacterial virus until it was confirmed after the advent of the electron microscope (d'Herelle, 1949).

## 2.2.2. Structure

The virion (the mature, extracellular virus) is typically composed of nucleic acid, known as the core, and a protein coat, known as the capsid. This complex, composed of the capsid and core, is also known as the nucleocapsid. In some cases, the nucleocapsid is

further enclosed in an envelope or it may even have appendages (Bradley, 1967) as is the case for T4 bacteriophage.

# 2.2.2.1. Core

The nucleic acid of a virus, called the core (Bradley, 1967), may be composed of single-stranded (ss) or double stranded (ds) deoxyriobonucleic acid (DNA), or even ss or ds ribonucleic acid (RNA) (Ackermann, 2006). The core of bacteriophage T4 is composed of ds linear DNA, 169,903 bp in length (Miller et al., 2003). Instead of cytosine, T4 DNA contains hydroxymethylcytosine (HMC) residues, which are often glycosylated (Miller et al., 2003). Both of these features help to prevent restriction of viral DNA by host and viral restriction enzymes. Glycosylation and HMC deficient mutants also show altered regulation of transcript termination (Drivdahl and Kutter, 1990), DNA replication (Yee and Marsh, 1985) and packaging (Youil et al., 1995). Each T4 phage particle contains approximately 103% of the entire phage genome, resulting in terminal redundancy at each end of the molecule (Streisinger, 1966). Though the T4 genome is linear, circular permutations arise making the genome appear circular.

# 2.2.2.2. Capsid

The viral capsid encasing nucleic acid is composed of multiple protein subunits arranged in a regular fashion. In 1956, Crick and Watson hypothesized that due to the small size of known viral genomes, the protein shell must be composed of multiple small protein units, most likely the product of one gene, as opposed to one or two larger proteins. Electron microscopy did in fact demonstrate that the viral capsid is composed

of multiple protein subunits. These protein clusters, called *capsomers*, are themselves composed of identical protein sub-units called *structure units* (Lwoff et al., 1962).

Viral capsomers are arranged symmetrically, another observation that supported the hypothesis of Crick and Watson (1956). The entire virion can be categorized as cubic, helical, binary (cubic head with helical tail), or pleomorphic (Ackermann, 2006). Virion symmetry is a major factor considered in the classification of bacteriophages, along with nucleic acid type (Bradley et al., 1967; Lwoff et al., 1962). The wild-type symmetry of bacteriophage T4 is binary, with an elongated icosahedral head of triangulation class T = 13 (Aebi et al., 1974). The T4 capsid is composed primarily of protein gp23 along with at least 9 other polypeptides (Mosig and Eiserling, 2006).

## 2.2.2.3. Tail and tail fibers

In addition to the icosahedral head, the T4 phage particle also possesses a helical tail, made up of the tail tube (inner and outer tube), baseplate wedge and baseplate hub, as well as long and short tail fibers resulting in a "spider-like" appearance. Twenty-six proteins are required for construction of the tail and tail fibers (Mosig and Eiserling, 2006). The tail fibers are involved in adsorption of the free virus particle to the host cell while the baseplate-tail complex delivers the viral nucleic acid to the host cell membrane.

## 2.2.3. Classification

A method developed for the classification of viruses, proposed by Bradley (1967) is still widely used for the classification of phages. Symmetry and type of nucleic acid identifies the order or family of which a phage belongs. T4 belongs to the order

*Caudovirales* (currently the only order of bacteriophages recognized by the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses), which is composed of phages with cubic heads, helical tails, and ds linear DNA (Ackermann, 2006; Lwoff et al., 1962). Subclassifications for T4 and other *E. coli*-specific phage places them in the family of *Myoviridae*, and into the genus of "T4-like" viruses (Ackermann, 2006).

# 2.2.4. Viral replication of T4-like bacteriophages

There are five major steps involved in viral replication: 1) adsorption; 2) release of nucleic acid; 3) expression and replication of nucleic acid; 4) assembly, and 5) release. Viral replication is unlike replication in prokaryote and eukaryote cells, as viruses cannot replicate without a host. A great deal of research has been done on bacteriophage T4, an *E. coli* virus. For this reason, and because of its relevance to the research in this thesis, this summary of viral replication will focus on lytic T4-like bacteriophages.

#### 2.2.4.1. Adsorption

Adsorption is a highly specific process but initial interaction between the virus particle and the host is random and reversible. Collision between the viral particle and susceptible host often results in an initial electrostatic attachment (Duckworth, 1987). Bacteriophage T4 tail fibers are released from their stored position and extend into a conformation conducive to association with lipopolysaccharides (LPS) or proteins on the host cell surface (Goldberg et al., 1994). Movement along the cell surface occurs until at least three long tail fibers bind, which causes a conformational change to the viral baseplate. Short tail fibers are then released and bind irreversibly to surface LPS (Mosig and

Eiserling, 2006). Although T4 phage bind specifically to LPS, other phages may be specific to surface proteins such as OmpC, as is the case for *E. coli*-specific phage SP21 (Tanji et al., 2004). Often divalent cations such as  $Mg^{2+}$  and  $Ca^{2+}$  are required as cofactors for adsorption (Puck et al., 1951; Guttman et al., 2005). Modification or absence of cell-surface receptors results in bacterial resistance to the virus. In such cases the phage cannot bind specifically to the host cell. *E. coli* strains expressing truncated O157 antigens and O157-deficient mutant strains were both resistant to O157-specific phages KH1, KH4, and KH5 (Kudva et al., 1999). Of course mutations in bacterial cells that result in increased resistance to bacteriophages are sometimes countered by mutant phages that alter their method of association with the resistant host (Parker, 2000).

The rate of phage adsorption is a function of host density. As host densities increase, so does the rate of phage adsorption (Abedon et al., 2001), while the average time of phage adsorption decreases. This is likely due to increased incidences of random collision among viral particles and the host when host densities are high. Higher adsorption rates are also associated with shorter latent periods (the time between phage adsorption and host cell lysis), as the optimal latent period (min) decreases with increasing host density (Abedon et al., 2001). However, the magnitude of this change in latent period with varying host density remains to be defined (Abedon et al., 2001, Wang et al., 1996).

## 2.2.4.2. Release of nucleic acid

Bacteriophages differ from animal viruses in the separation of nucleic acid from the protein coat. Often with animal viruses, the entire virus (including the capsid) is taken up into the animal cell prior to release of the nucleic acid from the capsid (Luria et al., 1978). This is not the case for T4-like bacteriophages, which commonly deposit their nucleic acid at the cell membrane for transport into the cytoplasm (Mosig and Eiserling, 2006).

Following irreversible attachment of the T4 virus particle to the host cell, it has been proposed that a needle-like structure, centered under the viral baseplate penetrates the cell envelope (Kanamaru et al., 2002). A protein (Gp5) within the needle contains a lysozyme domain that likely digests bacterial peptidoglycan (Mosig et al., 1989). This action enables the tail tube to penetrate the cell wall, which coincides with the contraction of the tail sheath (Kellenberger, 1980; Moody and Makowski, 1981). A conformational change in the phage allows release of the DNA. Though much of the mechanism is unknown, DNA transfer through the cell membrane likely involves a transmembrane channel (Goldberg et al., 1994), proton-motive force (Goldberg et al., 1994) and possibly the help of membrane-altering proteins (Zoon et al., 1976).

# 2.2.4.3. Expression and replication of nucleic acid

Transcription of viral nucleic acid within the host cell can be broken up into three stages, commonly called early (immediate early), middle (delayed early) and late transcription.

Early genes are transcribed by host RNA polymerase (in the case of DNA viruses such as T4) as a result of the enzyme's recognition of very strong viral promoters. At this time RNA polymerase uses unmodified  $\delta^{70}$ , but the polymerase core may be altered by a viral protein (Ross et al., 1993) that is delivered along with the nucleic acid. As early

proteins are produced, a cascade of RNA polymerase modifications occur, further promoting viral transcription and preventing host gene transcription. Additional phage gene products are involved in protection of the phage genome and proteins from destruction by nucleases, proteases, and other host defense mechanisms (Guttman et al., 2005).

Middle transcription results in the expression of proteins involved in viral nucleic acid replication including enzymes of the deoxyribonucleotide biosynthesis complex. These include proteins involved in recombination, protection of viral nucleic acid as well as RNA polymerase modifiers, RNases, and primers for late transcription (Mosig and Eiserling, 2006).

Like transcription, T4 genome replication is also temporal. Although multiple regions of replication exist, the initiation of replication is associated with a single origin (Dannenberg and Mosig, 1983). Replication is carried out in the direction of 5' to 3' (leading and lagging), by a viral-encoded replisome. As mentioned previously, the viral core contains approximately 103% of the phage genome. Intramolecular, and later intermolecular, recombination is utilized to solve the problem of replicating the 5' end of the lagging nucleic acid strand, a problem characteristic of 5' to 3' replication (Mosig, 1998; Mosig et al., 2001). Late replication therefore relies considerably on recombination, resulting in the formation of circular and branched intermediates that give rise to concatemeric strands of the viral genome.

Late genes code for products involved in the synthesis and release of new phage particles. These include proteins involved in DNA recombination and repair, proteins

involved in the assembly of the capsid, tail and tail fiber (morphogenesis proteins), as well as enzymes that lyse the host cell wall (Mosig and Eiserling, 2006).

# 2.2.4.4. Assembly

Phage assembly begins only after head, tail and tail fiber proteins are all synthesized by individual pathways. Assembly is initiated as a result of protein interactions (Duckworth, 1987). In fact, in the presence of additional gene products (Wood and Edgar, 1967), isolated protein components, and nucleic acid have been shown to assemble *in vitro* to form virulent particles (Edgar and Wood, 1966).

Viral DNA is bound by a terminase protein, which cuts the appropriate length of nucleic acid to be included in the phage head from the DNA concatemer (Rao et al., 1992). This protein-nucleic acid complex then binds to a portal protein present in the phage head forming a complex known as a "packasome." Adenosine triphosphate is hydrolyzed during the loading of the nucleic acid into the viral head (Black and Showe, 1983). Since approximately 103% of the genome is cut from the DNA concatemer and loaded into the phage head, each resultant phage particle will receive a different sequence of redundant genetic material at either end of the molecule (Thomas and MacHattie, 1967).

## 2.2.4.5. Release

Lysis of the bacterial cell is required for the release of newly synthesized phage. In T4 infection, T4 lysozyme, cleaves the bond between the *N*-acetylglucosamine and the muramic acid in the murein of the bacterial cell wall (Matthews, 1983). This lysozyme is

closely related to the lysozyme of the viral baseplate that digests the host cell wall in order to deliver the viral genome to the cell membrane (Kao and McClain, 1980; Paddison et al., 1998).

#### 2.3 Conclusions

The need to control *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 populations in cattle is evident as the human health risk associated with the harboring of this pathogen by ruminant animals is high. However, ruminant digestion is dependent on a large resident microbial population and therefore any anti-microbial strategy used to control *E. coli* O157:H7 must be highly specific so as to not alter natural microfloral. Many of the mitigation strategies discussed lack specificity in their actions. However, bacteriophage therapy is highly specific due to the nature of adsorption to the targeted host. Also, bacteriophages occur naturally within the ruminant GIT and are easily isolated. For these reasons, bacteriophage therapy may offer an efficacious means for controlling *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle.

## 2.4 References

Abedon, S. T., T. D. Herschel, and D. Stopper. 2001. Bacteriophage latent-period evolution as a response to resource availability. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67:4233-4241.

Ackermann, H.-W. 2006. Classification of Bacteriophages, p. 8-16. *In* R. Calendar (ed.) The Bacteriophages. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.

- Ackers, M. L., B. E. Mahon, E. Leahy, B. Goode, T. Damrow, P. S. Hayes, W. F. Bibb,
  D. H. Rice, T. J. Barrett, L. Hutwagner, P. M. Griffin, and L. Slutsker. 1998. An outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections associated with leaf lettuce consumption. *J. Infect. Dis.* 177:1588-1593.
- Aebi, U., R. Bijlenga, J. van der Broek, R. van der Broek, F. Eisering, C. Kellenberger, E. Kellenberger, V. Mesyanzihinov, L. Muller, M. Showe, R. Smith, and A. Steven.
  1974. The transformation of tau-particles into T4 heads. II. Transformation of the surface lattice and related observations on form determination. *J. Supra Mol. Struct.* 2:253-275.
- Amalaradjou, M. A., T. Annamalai, P. Marek, P. Rezamand, D. Schreiber, T. Hoagland, and K. Venkitanarayanan. 2006. Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in cattle drinking water by sodium caprylate. *J. Food Prot.* 69:2248-2252.
- Armstrong, G. L., J. Hollingsworth, and J. G. Morris Jr. 1996. Emerging foodborne pathogens: *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 as a model of entry of a new pathogen into the food supply of the developed world. *Epidemiol. Rev.* 18:20-51.
- Arunachalam, K., H. S. Gill, and R. K. Chandra. 2000. Enhancement of natural immune function by dietary consumption of *Bifidobacterium lactis* (HN019). *EJCN*. 54:263-267.
- Avery, S. M., A. Moore, and M. L. Hutchison. 2004. Fate of *Escherichia coli* originating from livestock feces deposited directly onto pasture. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 38:355-359.
- Bach, S.J., Y. Wang, and T. A. McAllister. 2008. Effect of feeding sun-dried seaweed (*Ascophyllum nodosum*) on fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by

feedlot cattle and on growth performance of lambs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 142:17-32.

- Bach, S. J., L. J. Selinger, K. Stanford, and T. A. McAllister. 2005. Effect of supplementing corn- or barley-based feedlot diets with canola oil on faecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by steers. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 98:464-475.
- Bach, S. J., T. A. McAllister, D. M. Veira, V. Gannon, and R. A. Holley. 2003. Effect of bacteriophage DC22 on *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in an artificial rumen system (Rusitec) and inoculated sheep. *Anim. Res.* 52:89-101.
- Bell, B. P., M. Goldoft, P. M. Griffin, M. A. Davis, D. C. Gordon, P. I. Tarr, C. A.
  Bartleson, J. H. Lewis, T. J. Barrett, and J. G. Wells. 1994. A multistate outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7-associated bloody diarrhea and hemolytic uremic syndrome from hamburgers. The Washington Experience. *JAMA*. 272:1349-1353.
- Belongia, E. A., M. T. Osterholm, J. T. Soler, D. A. Ammend, J. E. Braun, and K. L.
  MacDonald. 1993. Transmission of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection in
  Minnesota child day-care facilities. *JAMA*. 269:883-888.
- Belongia, E. A., K. L. MacDonald, G. L. Parham, K. E. White, J. A. Korlath, M. N. Lobato, S. M. Strand, K. A. Casale, and M. T. Osterholm. 1991. An outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 colitis associated with consumption of precooked meat patties. *J. Infect. Dis.* 164:338-343.

Berg, J., T. McAllister, S. Bach, R. Stilborn, D. Hancock, and J. LeJeune. 2004. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 excretion by commercial feedlot cattle fed either barley- or corn-based finishing diets. J. Food Prot. 67:666-671.

- Besser, T. E., and D. D. Hancock. 1994. Surveillance for *Escherichia coli* O157:H7: seasonal variation and duration of infection in cattle. Proc. 8<sup>th</sup> International Congress Anim. Hygiene. St. Paul, Minnesota, USA.
- Besser, T. E., D. D. Hancock, L. C. Pritchett, E. M. McRae, D. H. Rice, and P. I. Tarr. 1997. Duration of detection of fecal excretion of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in cattle. *J. Infect. Dis.* 175:726-729.
- Besser, R. E., S. M. Lett, J. T. Weber, M. P. Doyle, T. J. Barrett, J. G. Wells, and P. M.Griffin. 1993. An outbreak of diarrhea and hemolytic uremic syndrome from*Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in fresh-pressed apple cider. *JAMA*. 269:2217-2220.
- Black, L. W., and M. K. Showe. 1983. Morphogenesis of the T4 head, p. 219-245. *In* K.Matthews, E. M. Kutter, G. Mosig, and P. G. Berget (eds.), Bacteriophage T4.American Society for Microbiology, Washington, DC.
- Bolton, D. J., C. M. Byrne, J. J. Sheridan, D. A. McDowell, and I. S. Blair. 1999. The survival characteristics of a non-toxigenic strain of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. J. *Appl. Microbiol.* 86:407-411.
- Borczyk, A. A., M. A. Karmali, H. Lior, and L. M. Duncan. 1987. Bovine reservoir for verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Lancet*. 1:98.
- Boukhors, K., N. Pradel, J. P. Girardeau, V. Livrelli, A. M. Ou Said, M. Contrepois, and C. Martin. 2002. Effect of diet on Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) growth and survival in rumen and abomasum fluids. *Vet. Res.* 33:405-412.
- Brabban, A. D., E. Hite, and T. R. Callaway. 2005. Evolution of foodborne pathogens via temperate bacteriophage-mediated gene transfer. *Foodborne. Pathog. Dis.* 2:287-303.

Braden, K. W., J. R. Blanton Jr., V. G. Allen, K. R. Pond, and M. F. Miller. 2004.

Ascophyllum nodosum supplementation: a preharvest intervention for reducing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and Salmonella spp. in feedlot steers. *J. Food Protect*. 67:1824-1828.

Bradley, D. E. 1967. Ultrastructure of bacteriophages and bacteriocins. *Bacteriol. Rev.* 31:230-314.

- Brashears, M. M., D. Jaroni, and J. Trimble. 2003a. Isolation, selection, and characterization of lactic acid bacteria for a competitive exclusion product to reduce shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in cattle. *J. Food Prot.* 66:355-363.
- Brashears, M. M., M. L. Galyean, G. H. Loneragan, J. E. Mann, and K. Killinger-Mann. 2003b. Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and performance by beef feedlot cattle given Lactobacillus direct-fed microbials. *J. Food Prot.* 66:748-754.
- Buchanan, R. L., and M. P. Doyle. 1997. Foodborne disease significance of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and other enterohemorrhagic *E. coli*. *Food Technol*. 51:69.
- Buchko, S. J., R. A. Holley, W. O. Olson, V. P. J. Gannon, and D. M. Veira. 2000a. The effect of different grain diets on fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by steers. *J. Food Prot.* 63:1467-1474.
- Buchko, S. J., R. A. Holley, W. O. Olson, V. P. J. Gannon, and D. M. Veira. 2000b. The effect of fasting and diet on fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by cattle. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 80:741-744.
- Callaway, T. R., T. S. Edrington, A. D. Brabban, J. E. Keen, R. C. Anderson, M. L.Rossman, M. J. Engler, K. J. Genovese, B. L. Gwartney, J. O. Reagan, T. L. Pool,R. B. Harvey, E. M. Kutter, and D. J. Nisbet. 2006. Fecal prevalence of

*Escherichia coli* O157, Salmonella, Listeria, and bacteriophage infecting *E. coli* O157:H7 in feedlot cattle in the Southern Plains Region of the United States. *Foodborne Patho. Dis.* 3:234-244.

- Callaway, T. R., R. C. Anderson, G. Tellez, C. Rosario, G. M. nava, C. Eslava, M. A.
  Blanco, M. A. Quiroz, A. Olguin, M. Herradora, T. S. Edrington, K. J. Genovese,
  R. B. Harvey, and D. J. Nisbet. 2004. Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle and swine in Central Mexico. *J. Food Prot.* 67:2274-2276.
- Callaway, T. R., R. O. Elder, J. E. Keen, R. C. Anderson, and D. J. Nisbet. 2003. Forage feeding to reduce preharvest *Escherichia coli* populations in cattle, a review. *J. Dairy Sci.* 86:852-860.
- Callaway, T. R., R. C. Anderson, K. J. Genovese, T. L. Poole, T. J. Anderson, J. A. Byrd,
  L. F. Kubena, and D. J. Nisbet. 2002. Sodium chlorate supplementation reduces *E. coli* O157:H7 populations in cattle. *J. Anim Sci.* 80:1683-1689.
- Capparelli, R., I. Ventimiglia, S. Roperto, D. Fenizia, and D. Iannelli. 2006. Selection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 bacteriophage for persistence in the circulatory system of mice infected experimentally. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 12:248-253.
- Chapman, P. A., C. A. Siddons, D. J. Wright, P. Norman, J. Fox, and E. Crick. 1993. Cattle as a possible source of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 infections in man. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 111:439-447.

Chapman, P. A., A. T. Malo, C. A. Siddons, and M. Harkin. 1997. Use of commercial enzyme immunoassays and immunomagnetic separation systems for detecting *Escherichia coli* O157 in bovine fecal samples. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 63:2549-2553.

- Cho, S. B., J. B. Bender, F. Diez-Gonzales, C. P. Fossler, C. W. Hedberg, J. B. Kaneene,
  P. L. Ruegg, L. D. Warnick, and S. J. Wells. 2006. Prevalence and
  characterization of *Escherichia coli* O157 isolates from Minnesota diary farms
  and country fairs. *J. Food Prot.* 69:252-259.
- Cieslak, P. R., S. J. Noble, D. J. Maxson, L. C. Empey, O Ravenholt, G. Legarza, J.
  Tuttle, M. P. Doyle, T. J. Barrett, J. G. Wells, A. M. McNamara, and P. M.
  Griffin. 1997. Hamburger-associated *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection in Las
  Vegas: a hidden epidemic. *Am. J. Public Health.* 87:176-180.
- Cieslak, P. R., T. J. Barrett, and P. M. Griffin. 1993. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection from a manured garden. Lancet. 342:367.
- Cizek, A., I. Literak, and P. Scheer. 2000. Survival of *Escherichia coli* O157 in faeces of experimentally infected rats and domestic pigeons. *Letters Appl. Microbiol.* 31:349-352.
- Cizek, A., P. Alexa, I Literak, J. Hamrik, P. Novak, and J. Smola. 1999. Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* O157 in feedlot cattle and Norwegian rats froma large-scale farm. *Letters Appl. Microbiol.* 28:435-439.
- Clark, A., S. Morton, P. Wright, J. Corkish, F. J. Bolton, and J. Russell. 1997. A community outbreak of vero cytotoxin producing *Escherichia coli* O157 infection linked to a small farm dairy. *CDR Review*. 7:R206-R211.

Cody, S. H., M. K. Glynn, J. A. Farrar, K. L. Cairns, P. M. Griffin, J. Kobayashi, M.
Fyfe, R. Hoffman, A. S. King, J. H. Lewis, B. Swaminathan, R. G. Bryant, and D.
J. Vugia. 1999. An outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection from unpasteurized commercial apple juice. *Annals Intern. Med.* 130:202-209.

Coia, J. E. 1998. Clincal, microbiological and epidemiological aspects of *Escherichia coli* O157 infection. *FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol.* 20:1-9.

- Conlan, J. W., R. KuoLee, A. Webb, A. D. Cox, and M. B. Perry. 2000. Oral immunization of mice with a glycoconjugate vaccine containing the O157 antigen of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 admixed with cholera toxin fails to elicit protection against subsequent colonization by the pathogen. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 46:283-290.
- Conlan, J. W., R. KuoLee, A. Webb, and M. B. Perry. 1999. Salmonella landau as a live vaccine against Escherichia coli O157:H7 investigated in a mouse model of intestinal colonization. Can. J. Microbiol. 45:723-731.

Crick, F. H. C. and J. D. Watson. 1956. Structure of small viruses. Nature. 177:473-475.

- Crump, J. A., C. R. Braden, M. E. Dey, R. M. Hoekstra, J. M. Rickelman-Apisa, D. A.
  Baldwin, S. J. De Fijter, S. F. Nowicki, E. M. Koch, T. L. Bannerman, F. W.
  Smith, J. P. Sarisky, N. Hochberg, and P. S. Mead. 2003. Outbreaks of *Escherichia coli* O157 infections at multiple county agricultural fairs: a hazard of mixing cattle, concession stands and children. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 131:1055-1062.
- Currie, A., J. MacDonald, A. Ellis, J. Siushansian, L. Chui, M. Charlebois, M. Peermohamed, D. Everett, M. Fehr, and L.-K. Ng. 2007. Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections associated with consumption of beef donair. J. Food *Prot.* 70:1483-1488.
- Dannenberg, R., and G. Mosig. 1983. Early intermediates in bacteriophage T4 DNA replication and recombination. *J. Virol.* 45:813-831.

Dargatz, D. A., S. J. Wells, L. A. Thomas, D. D. Hancock, and L. P. Garber. 1997.
Factors associated with the presence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in feces of feedlot cattle. *J. Food Prot.* 60:446-470.

d'Herelle, F. 1949. The bacteriophage. Sci. News 14:44-59.

- Diez-Gonzalez, F. and J. B. Russell. 1997. The ability of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to decrease its intracellular pH and resist the toxicity of acetic acid. *Microbiol*. 143:1175-1180.
- Diez-Gonzalez, F., T. R. Callaway, M. G. Kizoulis, and J.B. Russell. 1998. Grain
  feeding and the dissemination of acid-resistant *Escherichia coli* from cattle. *Sci.*281:1666-1668
- Dodd, C. C., M. W. Sanderson, J. M. Sargeant, T. G. Nagaraja, R. D. Oberst, R. A. Smith, and D. D. Griffin. 2003. Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle feeds in Midwestern feedlots. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69:5243-5247.
- Doyle, M. P. 2003. Methods to control *E. coli* O157:H7 in drinking water for cattle. Available at: <u>http://www.amif.org/ht/a/GetDocumentAction/i/7368</u>
- Doyle, M. P. 1991. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and its significance in foods. *Int. J. Food. Microbiol.* 12:289-302
- Drivdahl, R. H., and E. M. Kutter. 1990. Inhibition of transcription of cytosine-containing
  DNA in vitro by the *alc* gene product of bacteriophage T4. *J. Bacteriol*.
  172:2716–2727.
- Duckworth, D. H. 1987. History and basic properties of bacterial viruses, p 20-21. In S.M. Goyal, C. P. Gerba, and B. Bitton (eds.) Phage Ecology. John Wiley & Sons,Inc., United States.

- Dunn, J. R., J. E. Keen, and A. Thompson. 2004. Prevalence of shiga-toxigenic Escherichia coli O157:H7 in adult dairy cattle. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 224:1151-1158.
- Dziva, F., I. Vlisidou, V. F. Crepin, T. S. Wallis, G. Frankel, and M. P. Stevens. 2007.
  Vaccination of calves with EspA, a key colonisation factor of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7, induces antigen-specific humoral responses but does not confer protection against intestinal colonisation. *Vet. Microbiol.* 123:254-261.
- Edgar, R. S., and W. B. Wood. 1966. Morphogenesis of bacteriophage T4 in extracts of mutant-infected cells. PNAS. 55:498-505.
- Elder, R. O., J. E. Keen, G. R. Siragusa, G. A. Barkocy-Gallagher, M. Koohmaraie, and W. W. Laegreid. Correlation of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 prevalence in feces, hides, and carcasses of beef cattle during processing. 2002. *PNAS*. 97:2999-3003.
- Eriksson, E., A. Aspan, A Gunnarsson, and I Vågshlom. 2005. Prevalence of verotoxinproducing *Escherichia coli* (VTEC) O157 in Swedish diary herds. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 133:349-358.
- Espie, E., V. Vaillant, P. Mariani-Kurkdjian, F. Frimont, R. Martin-Schaller, H. Devalk, and C. Vernozy-Rozand. 2006. *Escherichia coli* O157 outbreak associated with fresh unpasteruized goats' cheese. Epidemiol. Infect. 134:143-146.

Ezawa, A., F. Gocho, M. Saitoh, T. Tamura, K. Kawata, T. Takahaski, and N. Kikuchi. 2004. A three-year study of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 on a farm in Japan. *J. Vet. Med. Sci.* 66:779-784. Faith, N. G., J. A. Shere, R. Brosch, K. W. Arnold, S. E. Ansay, M. S. Lee, J. B. Luchansky, and C. W. Kaspar. 1996. Prevalence and clonal nature of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on dairy farms in Wisconsin. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62:1519-1525.

- Fegan, N., P. Vanderlinde, G. Higgs, and P. Desmarchelier. 2004. The prevalence and concentration of *Escherichia coli* O157 in faeces of cattle from different production systems at slaughter. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 97:362-370.
- Fenlon, D. R. and J. Wilson. 2000. Growth of *Escherichia coli* O157 in poorly fermented laboratory silage: a possible environmental dimension in the epidemiology of *E. coli* O157. *Letters Appl. Microbiol.* 30:118-121.
- Fischer, C. R., M Yoichi, H. Unno, and Y. Tanji. 2004. The coexistence of *Escherichia coli* serotype O157:H7 and its specific bacteriophage in continuous culture. *FEMS Microbiol. Letters*. 241:171-177.
- Flint, K. P. 1987. The long-term survival of *Escherichia coli* in river water. *J. Appl. Bacteriol.* 63:261-270.
- Friedman, M. S., T. Roels, J. E. Koehler, L. Feldman, W. F. Bibb, and P. Blake. 1999. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreak associated with an improperly chlorinated swimming pool. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 29:298-303.
- Fukushima, Y., Y. Kawata, K. Mizumachi, J. Kurisaki, and T. Mitsuoka. 1999. Effect of bifidobacteria feeding on fecal flora and production of immunoglobulins in lactating mouse. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 46:193-197.

Fuller, R. 1989. Probiotics in man and animals. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 66:365-378.

- Galland, J. C., D. R. Hyatt, S. S. Crupper, and D. W. Acheson. 2001. Prevalence, antibiotic susceptibility, and diversity of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 isolates from a longitudinal study of beef cattle feedlots. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67:1619-1627.
- Garber, L., S. Wells, L. Schroeder-Tucker, and K. Ferris. 1999. Factors associated with fecal shedding of verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 on dairy farms. J. *Food Prot.* 62:307-312.
- Garber, L. P., S. J. Wells, D. D. Hancock, M. P. Doyle, J. Tuttle, J. A. Shere, and T. Zhao. 1995. Risk factors for fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in dairy calves. *J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc.* 207:46-49.
- Gill, H. S., K. J. Rutherfurd, J. Prasad, and P. K. Gopal. 2000. Enhancement of natural and acquired immunity by *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (HN001), *Lactobacillus acidophilus* (HN017) and *Bifidobacterium lactis* (HN019). Br. J. Nutr. 83:167-176.
- Goh, S., C. Newman, M. Knowles, F. J. Bolton, V. Hollyoak, S. Richards, P. Daley, D. Counter, H. R. Smith, and N. Keppie. 2002. *E. coli* O157 phage type 21/28 outbreak in North Cumbria associated with pasteurized milk. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 129:451-457.
- Goldberg, E., L. Grinius, and L. Letellier. 1994. Recognition, attachment, and injection,
  p. 347-356. *In* J. D. Karam, J. W. drake, K. N. Kreuzer, G. Mosig, D. H. Hall, F.
  A. Eiserling, L. W. Black, E. K. Spicer, E. Kutter, C. Carlson, and E. S. Miller
  (eds.) Molecular Biology of Bacteriophage T4. American Society for
  Microbiology, Washington, D.C.

- Griffin, P. M. and R. V. Tauxe. 1991. The epidemiology of infections caused by *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, other enterohemorrhagic *E. coli*, and the associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Epidemiol. Rev.* 13:60-98.
- Goodridge, L., and J. Chase. 2006. Bacteriophage therapy reduces *Escherichia coli*O157:H7 counts in the bovine gastrointestinal tract. 6th International Symposium on Shiga Toxin (Verocytotoxcin)-Producing *E. coli* infections. October, Melbourne, Australia
- Guttman, B., R. Raya, and E. Kutter. 2005. Basic phage biology. *In* E. Kutter and A. Sulakvelidze (eds.) Bacteriophages: Biology and Applications. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Hancock, D., T. Besser, J. LeJeune, M. Davis, and D. Rice. 2001. The control of VTEC in the animal reservoir. *Int. J. Food Microbiol*. 66:71-78.
- Hancock, D. D., T. E. Besser, D. H. Rice, E. D. Ebel, D. E. Herriott, and L. V. Carpenter. 1998. Multiple sources of *Escherichia coli* O157 in feedlots and dairy farms in the northwestern USA. *Prev.* Vet. Med. 35:11-19.
- Hancock, D. D., T. E. Besser, D. H. Rice, D. E. Herriott, and P. I. Tarr. 1997. A longitudinal study of *Escherichia coli* O157 in fourteen cattle herds. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 118:193-195.

Hancock, D. D., T. E. Besser, M. L. Kinsel, P. I. Tarr, D. H. Rice, and M. G. Paros. 1994.
The prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157.H7 in dairy and beef cattle in
Washington State. *Epidemio.l Infect.* 113:199-207.

- Harmon, B. G., Brown, C. A., S. Tkalcic, P. O. E. Mueller, A. Parks, A. V. Jain, T. Zhao and M. P. Doyle. 1999. Fecal shedding and rumen growth of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 in fasted calves. *J. Food Prot.* 62:574-579.
- Herriott, D. E., D. D. Hancock, E. D. Ebel, L. V. Carpenter, D. H.Rice, and T. E. Besser. 1998. Association of herd managementfactors with colonization of dairy cattle by shiga toxin-positive *Escherichia coli* O157. *J. Food Prot.* 61:802–807.
- Hilborn, E. D., J. H. Mermin, P. A. Mshar, J. L. Hadler, A. Voetsch, C. Wojtkunski, M. Swartz, R. Mshar, M.-A. Lambert-Fair, J. A. Farrar, M. K. Glynn, and L. Slutsker. 1999. A multistate outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections associated with consumption of mesclun lettuce. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 159:1758-1764.
- Hockin, J. C., and H. Lior. 1987. Haemorrhagic colitis and hemolytic uremic syndrome caused by *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in Canada. *Can. Dis. Weekly Rep.* 13:203– 204.
- Honish, L., I. Zazulak, R. Mahabeer, K. Krywiak, R. Leyland, N. Hislop, and L. Chui.
  2007. Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 gastroenteritis associated with consumption of beef donairs, Edmonton, Alberta, May-June 2006. *Can. Commun. Dis. Rep.* 33:14-19.
- Hovde, C. J., P. R. Austin, K. A. Cloud, C. J. Williams, and C. W. Hunt. 1999. Effect of cattle diet on *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 acid resistance. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 65:3233-3235.
- Huntington, G. B. 1997. Starch utilization by ruminants: from basics to the bunk. *J. Anim Sci.* 75:852-867.

Hutchison, M. L., D. J. Thomas, and S. M. Avery. 2007. Thermal death of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in cattle feeds. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 44:357-363.

Hutchison, M. L., L. D. Walters, S. M. Avery, F. Munro, and A. Moore. 2005. Analyses of Livestock production, waste storage, and pathogenic levels and prevalences in farm manures. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 71:1231-1236.

Hutchison, M. L., L. D. Walters, A. Moore, K. M. Crookes, and S. M. Avery. 2004.
Effect of length of time before incorporation on survival of pathogenic bacteria present in livestock wastes applied to agricultural soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70:5111-5118.

- Institut Pasteur. 2007. On an invisible microbe antagonistic toward dysenteric bacilli: brief note by Mr. F. D'Herelle, presented by Mr. Roux. Res. *Microbiol.* 158:553-554.
- Jay, M. T., V. Garrett, J. C. Mohle-Boetani, M. Barros, J. A. Farrar, R. Rios, S. Abbott,
  R. Sowadsky, K. Komatsu, R. Mandrell, J. Sobel, and S. B. Werner. 2004. A
  multistate outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection linked to consumption
  of beef tacos at a fast-food restaurant chain. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 39:1-7.
- Johnson, K. E., C. M. Thorpe, and C. L. Sears. 2006. The emerging clinical importance of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 43:1587-1595.
- Jones, D. L. 1999. Potential health risks associated with the persistence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in agricultural environments. *Soil Use Management*. 15:76-83.

Jordan, D., S. A. McEwen, A. M. Lammerding, W. B. McNab, and J. B. Wilson. 1999. Pre-slaughter control of *Escherichia coli* O157 in beef cattle: a simulation study. *Prev. Vet. Med.* 41:55-74.

- Jordi, B. J., K. Boutaga, C. M. van Heeswijk, K. F. van, and L. J. Lipman. 2001. Sensitivity of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) strains for colicins under different experimental conditions. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 204:329-334.
- Judge, N. A., H. S. Mason, and A. D. O'Brien. 2004. Plant cell-based intimin vaccine given orally to mice primed with intimin reduces time of *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 shedding in feces. *Infect. Immun.* 72:168-175.
- Kanamaru, S., P. G. Leiman, V. A. Kostyuchenko, P. R. Chipman, V. V. Mesyanzhinov, F. Arisaka, and M. G. Rossmann. 2002. Structure of the cell-puncturing device of bacteriophage T4. *Nature*. 415:553-557.
- Kao, S. H., and W. H. McClain. 1980. Roles of bacteriophage T4 gene 5 and gene s products in cell lysis. *J. Virol*. 34:104-107.
- Karmali, M. A. 1989. Infection by verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. *Clin*. *Microbiol. Rev.* 2:15-38.
- Keen, J. E. and R. O. Elder. 2002. Isolation of shiga-toxigenic *Escherichia coli* O157 from hide surfaces and the oral cavity of finished beef feedlot cattle. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 220:756-763.
- Keen, J. E., and R. O. Elder. 2000. High but variable enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* O157
   fecal shedding in pens of slaughter-ready Kansas and Nebraska beef feedlot cattle.
   Proc. 9<sup>th</sup> Symp. Int. Soc. Vet. Epidemol. Econ. Colorado, USA.

- Keene, W. E., K. Sazie, J. Kok, D. H. Rice, D. D. Hancock, V. K. Balan, T. Zhao, and M.
  P. Doyle. 1997. An outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections traced to jerky made from deer meat. *JAMA*. 277:1229-1231.
- Kellenberger, E. 1980. Molecular mechanisms controlling protein-protein and proteinnucleic acid interactions as revealed by studies of virus maturation. *CMLS*. 36:267-276.
- Kerr, M., M. Fitzgerald, J. J. Sheridan, D. A. McDowell, and I. S. Blair. 1999. Survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in bottled natural mineral water. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 87:833-841.
- Klieve, A. V. and R. A. Swain. 1993. Estimation of ruminal bacteriophage numbers by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis and laser densitometry. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 59:2299-2303.
- Korhonen, L. K. and P. J. Martikainen. 1991. Survival of *Escherichia coli* and Campylobacter jejuni in untreated and filtered lake water. *J. Appl. Bacteriol*. 71:379-382.
- Kudva, I. T., P. G. Hatfield, and C. J. Hovde. 1997. Characterization of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and other shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* serotypes from sheep. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 35:298-299.
- Kudva, I. T., P. G. Hatfield, and C. J. Hovde. 1996. Escherichia coli O157:H7 in microbial flora of sheep. J. Clin. Microbiol. 34:431-433.
- Kudva, I. T., K. Blanch, and C. J. Hovde. 1998. Analysis of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7
  survival in ovine or bovine manure and manure slurry. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol*. 64:316-3174.

 Kudva, I. T., S. Jelacic, P. I. Tarr, P. Youderian, and C. J. Hovde. 1999. Biocontrol of *Escherichia coli* O157 with O157-specific bacteriophages. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 65:3767-3773.

- Khaitsa, M. L., M. L. Bauer, G. P. Lardy, D. K. Doetkott, R. B. Kegode, and P. S. Gibbs. 2006. Fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in North Dakota feedlot cattle in the fall and spring. *J. Food Protect*. 69:1154-1158.
- Laine, E. S., J. M. Scheftel, D. J. Boxrud, K. J. Vought, R. N. Danila, K. M. Elfering, and K. E. Smith. 2005. Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections associated with nonintact blade-tenderized frozen steaks sold by door-to-door vendors. *J. Food Prot.* 68:1198-1202.
- LeJeune, J. T., T. E. Besser, D. H. Rice, J. L. Berg, R. P. Stilborn, and D. D. Hancock. 2004. Longitudinal study of fecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in feedlot cattle: predominance and persistence of specific clonal types despite massive cattle population turnover. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70:377-384.
- LeJeune, J. T., T. E. Besser, D. H. Rice, and D. D. Hancock. 2001. Methods for the isolation of water-borne *Escherichia coli* O157. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol*. 32:316-320.
- Levine, M. M., and P. Vial. 1988. *Escherichia coli* that cause diarrhea. *Indian. J. Pediatrics.* 55:183-190.
- Licence, K., K. R. Oates, B. A. Synge, and T. M. S. Reid. 2001. An outbreak of *E. coli* O157 infection with evidence of spread from animals to man through contamination of a private water supply. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 126:135-138.

- Liptakova, A., L. Siegfried, J. Rosocha, I. Podracka, E. Bogyiova, and D. Kotulova. 2004. A family outbreak of haemolytic uraemic syndrome and haemorrhagic colitis caused by verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* O157 from unpasteurised cow's milk in Slovakia. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 10:576-578.
- Luria, S. E., J. E. Darnell, D. Baltimore, and A. Campbell. 1978. General Virology. Wiley, New York, NY.
- Lwoff, A., R. Horne, and P. Tournier. 1962. A system of viruses. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 27:51-55.
- Lynn, T. V., D. D. Hancock, T. E. Besser, J. H. Harrison, D. H. Rice, N. T. Stewart, and L. L. Rowan. 1998. The occurrence and replication of *Escherichia coli* in cattle feeds. *J. Dairy Sci.* 81:1102-1108.
- Mack, D. R., S. Michail, S. Wei, L. McDougall, and M. A. Hollingsworth. 1999.
  Probiotics inhibit enteropathogenic *E. coli* adherence in vitro by inducing intestinal mucin gene expression. *Am. J. Physiol* 276:G941-G950.
- Martin, M. L., L. D. Shipman, J. G. Wells, M. E. Potter, K. Hedberg, I. K. Wachsmuth,
  R. V. Tauxe, J. P. Davis, J. Arnoldi, and J. Tilleli. 1986. Isolation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from diary cattle associated with two cases of haemolytic uraemic syndrome. *Lancet*. 2:1043.

Martin, D. L., K. L. MacDonald, K. E. White, J. T. Soler, and M. T. Osterholm. 1990.The epidemiology and clinical aspects of the hemolytic-uremic syndrome in Minnesota. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 323:1161-1167. Maruzumi, M., M. Morita, Y. Matsuoka, A. Uekawa, T. Nakamura, and K. Fuji. 2005.
Mass food poisoning caused by beef offal contaminated by *Escherichia coli*O157. *Jpn. J. Infect. Dis.* 58:397

Matthews, K., E. M. Kutter, G. Mosig, and P. G. Berget (eds.), Bacteriophage T4. ASM Press, Washington, DC.

McAllister, T. A., S. J. Bach, K. Stanford, and T. R. Callaway. 2006. Shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by cattle fed diets containing Monensin or Tylosin. J. *Food Prot.* 69:2075-2083.

- McGee, P., D. J. Bolton, J. J. Sheridan, B. Earley, G. Kelly, and N. Leonard. 2002. Survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in farm water: its role as a vector in the transmission of the organism within herds. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 93:706-713.
- McIntyre, L, J. Fung, A. Paccagnella, J. Issac-Renton, F. Rockwell, B. Emerson, and T.
   Preston. 2002. *Escherichia coli* O157 outbreak associated with the ingestion of unpasteruized goat's milk in British Columbia. *Can. Commun. Dis. Resp.* 28:6-8.

Mead, P. S., and P. M. Griffin. 1998. Escherichia coli O157:H7. Lancet. 352:1207-1212.

- Mechie, S. C., P. A. Chapman, and C. A. Siddons. 1997. A fifteen month study of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in a dairy herd. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 118:17-25.
- Medellin-Pena, M. J., H. Wang, R. Johnson, S. Anand, and M. W. Griffiths. 2007.
  Probiotics affect virulence-related gene expression in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73:4259-4267.
- Mestecky, J. and M. W. Russell. 1998. Passive and active protection against disorders of the gut. *Vet.* Q. 20 Suppl 3:S83-S87.
Miller, E. S., E. Kutter, G. Mosig, F. Arisaka, T. Kunisawa, and W. Riiger. 2003. Bacteriophage T4 genome. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 67:86-156.

- Mizoguchi, K., M. Morita, C. R. Fischer, M. Yiochi, Y. Tanji, and H. Unno. 2003. Coevoluction of bacteriophage PP01 and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in continuous culture. *J. Bacteriol.* 177:3004-3009.
- Montenegro, M. A., M. Bülte, T. Trumpf, S. Aleksić, G. Reuter, E. Bulling, and R. Helmuth. 1990. Detection and characterization of fecal verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* from healty cattle. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 28:1417-1421.
- Moody, M. F., and L. Makowski. 1981. X-ray diffraction study of tail-tubes from bacteriophage T2L. *J. Mol. Biol.* 150:217-244.

Morita, M., Y. Tanji, K. Mizoguchi, T. Akitsu, N. Kijima, and H. Unno. 2002.
Characterization of a virulent bacteriophage specific for *Escherichia coli*O157:H7 and analysis of its cellular receptor and two tail fibre genes. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 211:77-83.

- Mosig, G. 1998. Recombination and replication-dependent DNA replication in bacteriophageT4. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 32:379-413.
- Mosig, G. and F. Eiserling. 2006. T4 and related phages: Structure and Development pp.225-267. *In* R. Calendar (ed.) The Bacteriophages. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.
- Mosig, G., J. Gewin, A. Luder, N. Colowick, and D. Vo. 2001. Two recombinationdependent DNA replication pathways of bacteriophage T4, and their roles in mutagenesis and horizontal gene transfer. *PNAS*. USA. 98:8306-8311.

- Mosig, G., G. W. Lin, J. Franklin, and W. H. Fan. 1989. Functional relationships and structural determinants of two bacteriophage T4 lysozymes: a soluble (gene *e*) and a baseplate-associated (gene *5*) protein. *New Biol.* 1:171-179.
- Muniesa, M and J. Jofre. 2004. Abundance in sewage of bacteriophages infecting Escherichia coli O157:H7. Methods Mol. Biol. 268:79-88.
- Murinda, S. E., R. F. Roberts, and R. A. Wilson. 1996. Evaluation of colicins for inhibitory activity against diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* strains, including serotype O157:H7. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62:3196-3202.
- Nataro, J. P., and J. B. Kaper. 1998. Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli. Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 11:142-201.
- Naylor, S. W., J. C. Low, T. E. Besser, A. Mahajan, G. J. Gunn, M. C. Pearce, I. J. McKendrick, D. G. Smith, and D. L. Gally. 2003. Lymphoid follicle-dense mucosa at the terminal rectum is the principal site of colonization of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in the bovine host. *Infect. Immun.* 71:1505-1512.
- O'Brien, A. D., and R. K. Holmes. 1987. Shiga and shiga-like toxins. *Microbiol. Rev.* 51:206-220.
- O'Brien, A. D., and J. B. Kaper 1998. Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: Yesterday, Today, and Tomorrow. *In* J. B. Kaper and A. D. O'Brien (eds.) *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 and other shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* strains. ASM Press, Washington, DC.

- O'Flynn, G., R. P. Ross, G. F. Fitzgerald, and A. Coffey. 2004. Evaluation of a cocktail of three bacteriophages for biocontrol of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70:3417-3424.
- Ogden, I. D., N. F. Hepburn, M. Macrae, N. J. Strachan, D. R. Fenlon, S. M. Rusbridge, and T. H. Pennington. 2002. Long-term survival of *Escherichia coli* O157 on pasture following an outbreak associated with sheep at a scout camp. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 34:100-104.
- Ogden, L. D., D. R. Fenlon, A. J. Vinten, and D. Lewis. 2001. The fate of *Escherichia coli* O157 in soil and its potential to contaminate drinking water. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 66:111-117.
- Oot, R. A., R. R. Raya, T. R. Callaway, T. S. Edringtson, E. M. Kutter and A. D.
   Brabban. 2007. Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 and O157:H7-infecting bacteriophage in feedlot cattle feces. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 45:445-453.
- Ostroff, S. M., J. M. Kobayashi, and J. H. Lewis. 1989. Infections with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in Washington State. The first year of statewide disease surveillance. *JAMA*. 252:355-359.
- Ostroff, S. M., P. M. Griffin, R. V. Tauxe, L. D. Shipman, K. D. Greene, J. G. Wells, J. H. Lewis, P. A. Blake and J. M. Kobayashi. 1990. A statewide outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections in Washington state. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 132:239-247.
- Paddison, P., S. T. Abedon, H. K. Dressman, K. Gailbreath, J. Tracy, E. Mosser, J.Neitzel, B. Guttmann, and E. Kutter. 1998. The roles of bacteriophage T4 r genes

in lysis inhibition and fine-structure genetics: a new perspective. *Genetics* 148:1539-1550.

- Padhye, N. V., and M. P. Doyle. 1992. Rapid procedure for detecting enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in food. 1991. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 57:2693-2698.
- Panaro, L., D. Cook, and A. Borczyk. 1990. Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in a nursing home—Ontario. *Can. Dis. Wkly. Rep.* 16:90-92.
- Parker, J. 2000. Viruses, p.236-288. *In* M. T. Madigan, J. M. Martinko, and J. Parker.Brock Biology of Microorganisms, ninth ed. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- Paton, J. C. and A. W. Paton. 1998. Pathogenesis and diagnosis of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* infections. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 11:450-479.
- Pell, A. N. 1997. Manure and microbes: public and animal health problem? J. Dairy Sci. 80:2673-2681.
- Potter, A. A., S. Klashinsky, Y. Li, E. Frey, H. Townsend, D. Rogan, G. Erickson, S. Hinkley, T. Klopfenstein, R. A. Moxley, D. R. Smith, and B. B. Finlay. 2004.
  Decreased shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by cattle following vaccination with type III secreted proteins. *Vaccine* 22:362-369.
- Puck, T. T., A. Garen, and J. Cline. 1951. The mechanism of virus attachment to host cells: I. The roles of ions in the primary reaction. J. Exp. Med. 93:65-88.
- Rao, V. B., V. Thaker, and L. W. Black. 1992. A phage T4 in vitro packaging system for cloning long DNA molecules. *Gene*. 113:23-33.

Rahn, K., S. A. Renwick, R. P. Johnson, J. B. Wilson, R. C. Clarke, D. Alves, S.
McEwen, H. Lior, and J. Spika. 1997. Persistence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in dairy cattle and the dairy farm environment. *Epidemiol. Infec.t* 119:251-259.

- Rangel, J. M., P. H. Sparling, C. Crowe, P. M. Griffin, and D. L. Swerdlow. 2005.
  Epidemiology of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreaks, United States, 1982-2002. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 11:603-309.
- Ransom, J. R., K. E. Belk, J. N. Sofos, J. A. Scanga, M. L. Rossman, G. C. Smith, and J.
  D. Tatum. 2003. Investigation of on-farm management practices as pre-harvest beef microbiological interventions. Natl. Cattlemen's Beef Assoc. Res. Fact Sheet, Centenial, CO.
- Rasmussen, M. A., and T. A. Casey. 2001. Environmental and food safety aspects of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections in cattle. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.* 27:57-73.
- Renter, D. G., S. L. Checkley, J. Campbell, and R. King. 2004. Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in the feces of Alberta feedlot cattle. *Can. J. Vet. Res.* 68:150-153
- Renter, D. G., J. M. Sargeant, R. D. Oberst, and M. Samadpour. 2003. Diversity, frequency, and persistence of *Escherichia coli* O157 strains from range cattle environments. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69:542-547.
- Renter, D. G., and J. M. Sargeant. 2002. Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157: epidemiology and ecology in bovine production environments. *Anim. Health Res. Rev.* 3:83-94.
- Renwick, S. A., J. B. Wilson, R. C. Clarke, H. Lior, A. A. Borczyk, J. Spika, K. Rahn, K. McFadden, A. Brouwer, A. Copps, et al. 1993. Evidence of direct transmission of

*Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection between calves and a human. J. *Infect. Dis*. 168:792-793.

- Rice, D. H., Hancock, D. D., and T. E. Besser. 2003. Fecal culture of wild animals for *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Vet. Rec.* 152:82-83.
- Rice, D. H., D. D. Hancock, R. L. Vetter, and T. F. Besser. 1996. *Escherichia coli* O157 infection in a human linked to exposure to infected livestock. *Vet. Rec.* 138:311.
- Rice, E. W., R. M. Clark, and C. H. Johnson. 1999. Chlorine inactivation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 5:461-463.
- Rice, D. H., D. D. Hancock, and T. E. Besser. 1995. Verotoxigenic *E. coli* O157 colonization of wild deer and range cattle. *Vet. Rec.* 137:524.
- Riley, D. G., J. T. Gray, G. H. Loneragan, K. S. Barling, and C. C. Chase, Jr. 2003. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 prevalence in fecal samples of cattle from a Southeastern beef cow-calf herd. J. Food Prot. 66:1778-1782.
- Riley, M. A., and D. M. Gordon. 1996. The ecology and evolution of bacteriocins. *J. Indust. Microbiol.* 17:151-158.
- Riley, L. W., R. S. Remis, S. D. Helgerson, H. B. McGee, J. G. Wells, B. R. Davis, R. J.
  Hebert, E. S. Olcott, L. M. Johnson, N. T. Hargrett, P. A. Blake, and M. L. Cohen.
  1983. Hemorrhagic colitis associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. *N .Engl. J. Med.* 308:681-685.
- Ross, W., K. Gosink, J. Salomon, K. Igarashi, C. Zou, A. Ishihama, and R. L. Gourse.
  1993. Factor independent activation of transcription by an upstream DNA element: role of the RNA polymerase alpha subunit. *Sci.* 262:1407-1413.

- Rugbjerg, H., E. M. Nielsen, and J. S. Andersen. 2003. Risk factors associated with faecal shedding of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 in eight known-infected Danish dairy herds. Prevent. *Vet. Med.* 58:101-113.
- Russell, J. B. and J. L. Rychlik. 2001. Factors that alter rumen microbial ecology. *Sci*. 292:1119-1122.
- Sanderson, M. W., T. E. Besser, J. M. Gay, C. C. Gay, and D. D. Hancock. 1999. Fecal *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 shedding patterns of orally inoculated calves. *Vet. Microbiol.* 69:199-205.
- Sargeant, J. M., M. W. Sanderson, D. D. Griffin, and R. A. Smith. 2004. Factors associated with the presence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in feedlot-cattle water and feed in the Midwestern USA. *Prev. Vet. Med.* 66:207-237.
- Sargeant, J. M., J. R. Gillespie, R. D. Oberst, R. K. Phebus, D. R. Hyatt, L. K. Bohra, and J. C. Galland. 2000. Results of a longitudinal study of the prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on cow-calf farms. *Am. J. Vet. Res.* 61:1375-1379.
- Sargeant, J. M., D. J. Hafer, J. R. Gillespie, R. D. Oberst, and S. J. Flood. 1999.
  Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in white-tailed deer sharing rangeland with cattle. *J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc.* 215:792-794.
- Schamberger, G. P., R. L. Phillips, J. L. Jacobs, and F. Diez-Gonzalez. 2004. Reduction of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 populations in cattle by addition of colicin E7producing *E. coli* to feed. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70:6053-6060.
- Schamberger, G. P. and F. Diez-Gonzalez. 2002. Selection of recently isolated colicinogenic *Escherichia coli* strains inhibitory to *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. J. *Food Prot.* 65:1381-1387.

- Schouten, J. M., M. Bouwknegt, A. W. van de Giessen, K. Frankena, M. C. M. De Jong, and E. A. M. Graat. 2004. Prevalence estimation and risk factors for *Escherichia coli* O157 on Dutch dairy farms. *Prevent. Vet. Med.* 64:49-61.
- Sheng, H., H. J. Knecht, I. T. Kudva, and C. J. Hovde. 2006. Application of bacteriophages to control intestinal *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 levels in ruminants. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 72:5359-5366.
- Shere, J. A., K. J. Bartlett, and C. W. Kaspar. 1998. Longitudinal study of *Escherichia* coli O157:H7 dissemination on four dairy farms in Wisconsin. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 64:1390-1399.
- Shin, R., M. Suzuki, and Y. Morishita. 2002. Influence of intestinal anaerobes and organic acids on the growth of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. J. *Med. Microbiol.* 51:201-206.
- Shu, Q., F. Qu, and H. S. Gill. 2001. Probiotic treatment using Bifidobacterium lactis HN019 reduces weanling diarrhea associated with rotavirus and *Escherichia coli* infection in a piglet model. J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr. 33:171-177.
- Smith, D., M. Blackford, S. Younts, R. Moxley, J. Gray, L. Hungerford, T. Milton, and T. Klopfenstein. 2001. Ecological relationships between the prevalence of cattle shedding *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and characteristics of the cattle or conditions of the feedlot pen. *J. Food Prot.* 64:1899-1903.
- Smith, H. W. and M. B. Huggins. 1982. Successful treatment of experimental *Escherichia coli* infections in mice using phage: its general superiority over antibiotics. J. Gen. Microbiol. 128:307-318.

Smith, H. R., and S. M. Scotland. 1988. Verocytotoxin strains of *Escherichia coli*. J. *Med. Microbiol*. 26:77-85.

- Stanford, K., S. J. Bach, T. H. Marx, S. Jones, J. R. Hansen, G. L. Wallins, H. Zahiroddini, and T. A. McAllister. 2005. Monitoring *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in inoculated and naturally colonized feedlot cattle and their environment. *J. Food Prot.* 68:26-33.
- Stephan, R. and S. Schumacher. 2001. Resistance patterns of non-O157 Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) strains isolated from animals, food and asymptomatic human carriers in Switzerland. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 32:114-117.
- Stephens, T. P., G. H. Loneragan, L. M. Chichester, and M. M. Brashears. 2007.
  Prevalence and enumeration of *Escherichia coli* O157 in steers receiving various strains of Lactobacillus-based direct-fed microbials. *J. Food Prot.* 70:1252-1255.
- Stevenson, J., and S. Hanson. 1996. Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157 phage type 2 infection associated with eating precooked meats. Commun. Dis. Rep. CDR Rev. 6:R116-R118.
- Streisinger, G. 1966. Terminal redundancy, or all's well that ends well, pp. 335-340. *In* J.Cairns, G. S. Stent, and J. D. Watson (eds.) Phage and the Origins of MolecularBiology. Cold Spring. Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Springs Harbor, NY.

Swerdlow, D. L., B. A. Wooddruff, R. C. Brady, P. M. Griffin, S. Tippen, H. D. Donnell, Jr. E. Geldreich, B. J. Payne, A. Meyer, Jr., and J. G. Wells. 1992. A waterborne outbreak in Missouri of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 associated with bloody diarrhea and death. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 117:812-819.

- Synge, B. A., G. F., Hopkins, W. J. Reilly, and J. C. Sharp. 1993. Possible link between cattle and *E. coli* O157 infection in a human. *Vet. Rec.* 133:507.
- Tanji, Y., T. Shimada, H. Fukudomi, K. Miyanaga, Y. Nakai, and H. Unno. 2005. Therapeutic use of phage cocktail for controlling *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in gastrointestinal tract of mice. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* 100:280-287.
- Tanji, Y., T. Shimada, M. Yoichi, K. Miyanaga, K. Hori, and H. Unno. 2004. Toward rational control of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by a phage cocktail. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 64:270-274.
- Thomas, C. A., and L. A. MacHattie. 1967. The anatomy of viral DNA molecules. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 36:485-518.
- Tosun, H. and S. A. Gonul. 2005. The effect of acid adaptation conditions on heat resistance of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7. *Pol. J. Microbiol.* 54:295-299.

Twort, F. W. 1949. The discovery of bacteriophage. Sci. News. 14:33-34

- Twort, F. W. 1915. An investigation on the nature of ultra-microscopic viruses. *Lancet*. 2:1241-1243.
- van Diemen, P. M., F. Dziva, A. bu-Median, T. S. Wallis, B. H. van den, G. Dougan, N. Chanter, G. Frankel, and M. P. Stevens. 2007. Subunit vaccines based on intimin and Efa-1 polypeptides induce humoral immunity in cattle but do not protect against intestinal colonisation by enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 or O26:H-. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 116:47-58.
- VanDonkersgoed. J., D. Hancock, D. Rogan, and A. A. Potter. 2005. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 vaccine field trial in 9 feedlots in Alberta and Saskatchewan. *Can. Vet. J.* 46:724-728.

- Van Donkersgoed, J., J. Berg, A. Potter, D. Hancock, T. Besser, D. Rice, J. LeJeune, and
  S. Klashinsky. 2001. Environmental sources and transmission of *Escherichia coli*O157 in feedlot cattle. *Can. Vet. J.* 42:714-720.
- Verma, A., F. J. Bolton, D. Fiefield, P. Lamb, E. Woloschin, N. Smith, and R. McCann. 2007. An outbreak of *E. coli* O157 associated with a swimming pool: an unusual vehicle of transmission. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 135:989-992.
- Vicente, H. I. G., L. A. do Amaral, A. de Mello, and F. Cerqueira. 2005. Shigatoxigenic *Escherichia coli* serogroups O157, O111 and O113 in feces, water and milk samples from dairy farms. *Braz. J. Microbiol.* 36:1517-8382.
- Vidovic, S. and D. R. Korber. 2006. Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in Saskatchewan cattle: characterization of isolates by using random amplified polymorphic DNA PCR, antibiotic resistance profiles, and pathogenicity determinants. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 72:4347-4355.
- Vogt, R., and L. Dippold. 2005. *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreak associated with consumption of ground beef, June-July 2002. *Public Health Rep.* 120:174-178.
- Waddell, T., A. Mazzocco, R. P. Johnson, J. Pacan, S. Campbell, S. A. Perets, J.
  MacKinnon, B. Holtslander, C. Pope, and C. Gyles. 2000. Control of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection in calves by bacteriophages. Kyoto, Japan.
- Wang, G., T. Zhao, and M. P. Doyle. 1996. Fate of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in bovine feces. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62:2567-2570.
- Wang G., and M. P. Doyle. 1998. Survival of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in water. *J. Food Prot.* 61:662-667.

- Ward, J. K., D. Richardson, and W. S. Tsien. 1961. Volatile fatty acid concentrations and proportions in the gastrointestinal tract of full-fed beef heifers. *J. Anim. Sci.* 20:830-832.
- Wells, J. G., L. D. Shipman, K. D. Greene, E. G. Sowers, J. H. Green, D. N. Cameron, F.
  P. Downes, M. L Martin, P. M. Griffin, S. M. Ostroff, et al. 1991. Isolation of *Escherichia coli* serotype O157:H7 and other Shiga-like-toxin-producing *E. coli* from dairy cattle. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 29:985-989.
- Wells, J. G., B. R. Davis, I. K. Wachsmuth, L. W. Riley, R. S. Remis, R. Sokolow, and G. K. Morris. 1983. Laboratory investigation of hemorrhagic colitis outbreaks associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. J. Clin. Microbiol. 18:512-520.
- Willshaw, G. A., J. Thirlwell, A. P. Jones, S. Parry, R. L. Salmon, and M. Hickey. 1994. Vero cytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 in beef burgers linked to an outbreak of diarrhea, haemorrhagic colitis and haemolytic ureamic syndrome in Britain. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 3:561-565.
- Wilson, J. B., S. A. McEwen, R. C. Clarke, K. E. Leslie, R. A. Wilson, D.Waltner-Toews, and C. L. Gyles. 1992. Distribution and characteristics of verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* isolated from Ontario dairy cattle. *Epidemiol.Infect.* 108:423–439.

Woerner, D., J. R. Ransom, J. N. Sofos, J. A. Scanga, G. C. Smith, and K. E. Belk. 2007. Preharvest processes for microbial control in cattle. Food Prot.Trends 68:393-400.

Wood, J. C., I. J. McKendrick, and G. Gettinby. 2006. Assessing the efficacy of withinanimal control strategies against *E. coli* O157: a simulation study. *Prevent. Vet. Med.* 74:194-211. Wood, W. B., and R. S. Edgar. 1967. Building a bacterial virus. Sci. Am. 217:61-66.

- Wray, C., I. M. McLaren, L. P. Randall, and G. R. Pearson. 2000. Natural and experimental infection of normal cattle with *Escherichia coli* O157. *Vet. Rec.* 147:65-68.
- Yee, J. K., and R. C. Marsh. 1985. Locations of bacteriophage T4 origins of replication. *J. Virol.* 54:271-277.
- Youil, R., B. W. Kemper, and R. G. Cotton. 1995. Screening for mutations by enzyme mismatch cleavage with T4 endonuclease VII. *PNAS*. 92:87-91
- Younts-Dahl, S. M., G. D. Osborn, M. L. Galyean, J. D. Rivera, G. H. Loneragan, and M. M. Brashears. 2005. Reduction of *Escherichia coli* O157 in finishing beef cattle by various doses of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* in direct-fed microbials. *J. Food Prot.* 68:6-10.
- Younts-Dahl, S. M., M. L. Galyean, G. H. Loneragan, N. A. Elam, and M. M. Brashears. 2004. Dietary supplementation with Lactobacillus- and Propionibacterium-based direct-fed microbials and prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in beef feedlot cattle and on hides at harvest. *J. Food Prot.* 67:889-893.
- Zhao, T., P. Zhao, J. W. West, J. K. Bernard, H. G. Cross, and M. P. Doyle. 2006.
  Inactivation of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* in rumen content- or fecescontaminated drinking water for cattle. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 72:3268-3273.
- Zhao, T., M. P. Doyle, P. Zhao, P. Blake, and F. M. Wu. 2001. Chlorine inactivation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in water. J. Food Prot. 64:1607-1609.

- Zhao, T., M. P. Doyle, B. G. Harmon, C. A. Brown, P. O. Mueller, and A. H. Parks.
  1998. Reduction of carriage of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in cattle by inoculation with probiotic bacteria. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 36:641-647.
- Zhao, T., M. P. Doyle, J. Shere, and L. Garber. 1995. Prevalence of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in a survey of dairy herds. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 61:1290-1293.
- Zoon, K. C., M. Habersat, and J. J. Scocca. 1976. Synthesis of envelope polypeptides by *Haemophilus influenzae* during development of competence for genetic transformation. J. Bacteriol. 127:545-554.
- Zucker, B. A. and W. Muller. 2000. Investigations on airborne microorganisms in animal stables. 3: Relationship between inhalable endotoxin, inhalable dust and airborne bacteria in a hen house. *Berl Munch. Tierarztl. Wochenschr.* 113:279-283.

# 3. BACTERIOPHAGE THERAPY FOR CONTROLLING ESCHERICHIA COLI 0157:H7 IN FEEDLOT CATTLE: EFFECT OF ORAL VS. RECTAL ADMINISTRATION<sup>1</sup>

## **3.1. INTRODUCTION**

Escherichia coli O157:H7 is a human pathogen with symptoms of infection ranging from watery diarrhea to hemorrhagic colitis and hemolytic uremic syndrome (PHAC, 2007). In some cases infection has resulted in death (Griffin and Tauxe, 1991). Sources of E. coli O157:H7 include, but are not limited to, undercooked ground beef, vegetables, and drinking water (Erickson and Doyle, 2007). Ruminant animals, particularly cattle, have been identified as a primary reservoir of E. coli O157:H7 (Borczyk et al., 1987; Hancock et al. 1994; Orskov et al., 1987; Rasmussen et al., 1993). Carriage of E. coli O157:H7 in cattle is asymptomatic (Cray and Moon, 2005) making it impossible to identify carrier animals without employing laboratory methods. Carriage is also transient and often seasonal (Rahn et al., 1997; Van Donkersgoed et al. 2001). Contamination of hides and shedding of E. coli O157:H7 have also been correlated with adulteration of meat and in particular with ground beef products (Elder et al. 2000). Control of the organism prior to slaughter is therefore necessary to reduce food contamination and subsequent human illness. A recent study indicated that 9% of E. coli O157:H7-positive animals in the feedlot shed E. coli O157 at levels greater than  $10^4$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A version of this paper has been submitted for publication in the Journal of Food Protection.

CFU/g feces and that these so called "super-shedders" (Omisakin et al. 2003) accounted for 96% of all *E. coli* O157:H7 shed at the abattoir.

Bacteriophages are highly specific viruses that target bacteria. Renewed interest in bacteriophage therapy has led to its application for controlling various bacterial infections. As efficacy of phage therapy is related to the density of the host, this approach may be particularly suited for controlling E. coli O157:H7 in super-shedders. Kudva et al, (1999), were the first to isolate phages specific to the O-antigen of E. coli O157:H7 for future phage therapy use. Bacteriophage specific to E. coli O157 have since been administered to a variety of animals, including mice, calves, and sheep, with varying degrees of success in mitigating E. coli O157:H7 (Bach et al. 2003; Sheng et al. 2006; Tanji et al. 2005; Waddell et al. 2000). The recto-anal junction was identified as the primary site of E. coli O157:H7 colonization in cattle (Naylor et al. 2003). Two studies have since used various mitigation strategies to target this area (Naylor et al. 2007; Sheng et al. 2006). Application of bacteriophages directly to the recto-anal junction and concurrently in drinking water was successful in reducing, but not eliminating, the fecal shedding of E. coli O157:H7 by cattle experimentally infected by inoculation at the rectoanal junction (Sheng et al. 2006).

The objective of this study was to compare oral and/or rectal administration of a four strain O157-specific bacteriophage cocktail to feedlot steers with respect to establishment of phage populations within the animals and mitigation of experimental oral *E. coli* O157:H7 infection. Persistence and transmission of phage and *E. coli* O157:H7 within the feedlot environment were also monitored.

## **3.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.2.1. Experimental animals and design.

Thirty-two Hereford X Angus steers  $(386 \pm 29 \text{ kg average weight})$  were randomly assigned to four groups of eight in eight feedlot pens (two pens of four animals per treatment group) with replicate pens sharing a water source. The steers were cared for in accordance with Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines (CCAC, 1993). They were acclimated to the new environment and a finishing diet consisting of 20% barley silage, 75% barley grain and 5% supplement (DM basis) for two weeks prior the start of the trial. Fecal and environmental samples were obtained during the acclimation period to confirm the absence of nalidixic acid-resistant (Nal<sup>R</sup>) E. coli O157:H7 strains as well as E. coli O157:H7-specific bacteriophages. On day (D) 0, all cattle were inoculated via stomach tube with a five-strain mixture of Nal<sup>R</sup> E. coli O157:H7, as described below. On Days -2, 0, 2, 6 and 9, steers were treated orally (ORL group), rectally (REC group), or both orally and rectally (O+R group) with a cocktail of four lytic E. coli O157:H7 bacteriophages, as described below. Cattle inoculated with E. coli O157:H7 but not treated with bacteriophages served as the control (CON) group and were sham-treated orally with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and rectally with a 5 % methocel gel preparation.

## 3.2.2. Bacterial inoculum.

Five strains of Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7, E318N (human origin), R508N (bovine origin), CO281-31N (human origin), E32511 (human origin), and H4420N (bovine origin), were combined for the bacterial inoculum. Each strain was cultured separately in

10 ml of tryptic soy broth (TSB, Difco, Ottawa, ON) containing 50 µg/ml nalidixic acid (Sigma Chemical Co., Oakville, ON, Canada) for 6 hours at 37°C with shaking at 150 rpm, then 100 µl was subcultured separately in 100 ml of TSB for 18 h at 37°C and 150 rpm. Each strain was enumerated by direct plating onto sorbitol MacConkey agar supplemented with 0.05 mg/L cefixime, 2.5 mg/L potassium tellurite and 50 µg/ml nalidixic acid (CT-SMACnal Dalynn Biologicals, Calgary, AB, Canada) for 18 h at 37°C. Plates with between 30 and 300 colonies were used for the determination of bacterial populations. Strains were then combined in equal concentrations and 52.3 ml of the mixture, totaling 5 x  $10^{10}$  CFU *E. coli* O157:H7 (enumerated as above), was drawn into a 60 cc syringe for oral administration to each animal via stomach tube. Inoculations on D 0 were followed by the delivery of three 50 ml aliquots of PBS to rinse the stomach tube.

## 3.2.3. Bacteriophage preparation and administration.

Bacteriophages rV5, wV7, wV8 and wV11 (Public Health Agency of Canada, Laboratory for Foodborne Zoonoses, Guelph, Ontario, Canada), virulent for *E. coli* O157:H7, were propagated for 16 h at 37°C in *E. coli* O157:H7 R508, which was grown in TSB containing 2 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> (Sigma, Oakville, ON). The resulting cultures were centrifuged for 10 min at 12,000 × g, and the supernatants were passed through 0.2 µm filters and titrated by plaque assays (Sambrook,1989). These preparations, containing approx 10<sup>10</sup> PFU/ml, were combined to create the administered bacteriophage mixtures. For oral administration, the bacteriophage mixture containing a total of  $3.3 \times 10^{11}$  PFU in 35.2 ml PBS, was given via stomach tube, preceded by 30% (w/v) magnesium oxide in

100 ml of water and three 100 ml rinses of distilled water, and followed by 100 ml of 7.5% sodium bicarbonate buffer. Rectal treatment followed digital evacuation of feces from the rectum. The bacteriophage mixture  $(1.5 \times 10^{11} \text{ PFU})$  was suspended in 52 ml of 5% (w/v) methocel gel (Wiler PCCA, London, ON, Canada), which was applied directly onto to the recto-anal junction mucosa using a modified 60 cc syringe with part of the narrow tip removed to create larger opening. The O+R steers, treated both orally and rectally, received a total of  $4.8 \times 10^{11}$  PFU bacteriophages on each treatment day. Steers in the CON group were treated by oral dosage with PBS instead of bacteriophages. All steers received the planned oral, rectal, oral+rectal or sham oral treatment each treatment day.

#### 3.2.4. Detection and enumeration of *E. coli* O157:H7.

Fecal samples were collected weekly during the two-week adaptation period, and on D 0, 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 13, then once per week for the remainder of the 12-week experimental period. Samples were collected from each animal by digital rectal retrieval, changing gloves between each animal. Samples were transported in sterile, 100 ml polypropylene containers and were processed within 1 h following collection. Fecal samples collected during the adaptation period were assessed for the presence of Nal<sup>R</sup> and naturally occurring strains of *E. coli* O157:H7 as follows. Enrichment of 10 g feces in 9 volumes of modified TSB (mTSB, BDH, Toronto, ON, Canada) containing 20 mg/L novobiocin (mTSB+n) for 6 h at 37°C was followed by immunomagnetic separation (IMS) using Dynabeads anti-*E. coli* O157 (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada). Following IMS, a 50-µl aliquot of the antibody-coated bead suspension was plated onto

CT-SMACnal and incubated for 18 h at 37°C. Any suspect *E. coli* O157:H7 colonies were tested for the O157 antigen by latex agglutination (Oxoid *E. coli* O157 Latex Kit, Oxoid, Nepean, ON, Canada). Agglutination-positive, putative *E. coli* O157:H7 colonies were plated for single colonies on Blood Agar (5% sheep blood, Dalynn Biologicals, Calgary, AB, Canada) and stored at 4°C.

For direct detection and enumeration of E. coli O157:H7 in feces postinoculation, 1 g of feces was serially diluted ten-fold in PBS, thoroughly mixed by vortexing, and 100 µl volumes were spread-plated in duplicate onto CT-SMACnal plates and incubated for 18 h at 37°C. Whenever possible, plates containing 30 to 300 Nal<sup>R</sup> colonies with typical morphology were used for plate counts and the average of the counts of duplicate plates were used to determine the levels of E. coli O157:H7 in the original sample (CFU/g). When sufficient colonies were not found after direct plating of 100 µl of the 1:10 fecal/PBS slurry, 1 ml of the same slurry was plated onto CT-SMACnal in a larger, 150mm x 15mm Kirby plate (Dalynn Biologicals, Calgary, AB, Canada), and processed as were the smaller plates. Once E. coli O157:H7 was no longer detectable by direct plating, 10 g of feces was enriched and tested by IMS as described above, with plating of the beads onto CT-SMACnal. Three agglutination-positive, putative E. coli O157:H7 colonies from each sample were then isolated by streaking onto Blood Agar (5 % sheep blood, Dalynn Biologicals, Calgary, AB, Canada) and stored at 4°C.

### 3.2.5. Detection and enumeration of bacteriophages.

Fecal samples (1 g) were mixed thoroughly in 9 ml of PBS and 1.8 ml aliquots were centrifuged at 10,000 X g for 10 min to sediment fecal material. The supernatant was filtered (0.8/0.2  $\mu$ m Supor<sup>®</sup> membrane syringe filter, Pall Corporation, Mississauga, ON, Canada) to remove bacterial cells. For the detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 bacteriophages potentially in low numbers, as in samples collected before treatment or later in the study, 450  $\mu$ l of the phage filtrate was incubated for 1 h at 37°C with 50  $\mu$ l *E. coli* O157:H7 (R508N), to allow replication of any lytic bacteriophages. Four droplets (20  $\mu$ l each) of the phage/*E. coli* O157:H7 mixture were then spotted on Modified Nutrient agar (Sambrook, 1989) Plates were incubated for 18 h at 37°C and examined for plaques.

Bacteriophages were enumerated by soft agar overlay plaque assays (Sambrook, 1989). Briefly, phage filtrate (40  $\mu$ l) was diluted in 360  $\mu$ l lambda diluent (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) followed by serial dilution (1:10) as necessary. Diluted filtrate (100  $\mu$ l) was then added to 100  $\mu$ l *E. coli* O157:H7 (R508) and incubated for 20 min at 37°C to allow bacteriophage to attach. After incubation, 3.5 ml molten 0.7% UltraPure agarose (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON, Canada) was added to each sample. Tubes were mixed through inversion then poured onto duplicate pre-hardened MNA plates and incubated at 37°C for 12-18 h. Plates with plaque counts between 10 and 500 were used to determine PFU/ml.

## **3.2.6.** Environmental samples.

To determine the presence and persistence of *E. coli* O157:H7 and bacteriophages in the environment, samples of feed, water and manure were collected weekly throughout the twelve-week experimental period. Samples were also obtained during the adaptation period and assessed for the presence of Nal<sup>R</sup> E. coli O157:H7 and E. coli O157:H7 bacteriophages. All samples were collected 5-6 hours after morning feed delivery and were analyzed 1 h after collection. Five 20 g feed samples were taken from different areas of each feed bunk and combined. A portion (10 g) of the pooled sample was measured into 90 ml mTSB with novobiocin (mTSB+n) and stomached for 30 sec at 230 rpm. The samples were then incubated for 6 h at 37°C prior to detection of E. coli O157:H7 by IMS (as above). A second 10 g portion of the pooled feed sample was measured into 40 ml lambda diluent and stomached for 30 sec at 230 rpm, 1.8 ml was removed and used for detection of bacteriophage as described above. Water samples (120 ml) were collected weekly from each of the four water troughs after thorough mixing. For detection of *E. coli* O157:H7, a portion of each sample (100 ml) was filtered through a 100 ml micro-funnel (0.2 µm filter units; Pall Life Sciences, VWR, Mississauga, ON, Canada). The filter was then removed and placed into 100 ml mTSB+n and stomached for 30 sec at 230 rpm (Stomacher 400 Circulator, Seward), and processed for detection of E. coli O157:H7 as for feed samples. For detection of E. coli O157:H7 bacteriophages, 1.8 ml of each stomached filter sample was tested as described above for fecal filtrates. Manure samples (10 g) from three random fecal pats within a pen were collected weekly and pooled. Sub-samples (1 g) were tested for *E. coli* O157:H7 and bacteriophages as described for fecal samples, above.

# 3.2.7. Pulsed field gel electrophoresis of isolates.

Fecal Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 isolates from D1 (n = 60), and D 69, 76, and 83 (n = 58), as well as fecal pat (n = 14), feed (n = 2) and water (n = 1) isolates were grown on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA, Difco, Ottawa, ON, Canada). Plates were incubated for 18 h at 37°C and isolates were prepared for PFGE as previously described by Bach et al., (2003). Analysis of *Xba*I-digested genomic DNA was performed according to the One-Day Standardized Laboratory Protocol for Molecular Subtyping of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 (CDC, 1996). Resulting banding patterns were analyzed and compared using Bionumerics software to determine the genetic relatedness of the isolates following methods previously outlined by Tenover et al., (1995).

## 3.2.8. Microplate Phage Virulence Assay.

To determine if Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 isolates that differed from the inoculated strains in PFGE profiles were resistant to therapeutic bacteriophages, each of the five inoculated *E. coli* O157:H7 strains and four fecal isolates with PFGE profiles distinct from the inoculated strains were analyzed for their susceptibility to the four administered phages by a phage virulence assay in 96-well microplates. In this assay, the virulence of a phage for a given bacterial strain is assessed as the lowest multiplicity of infection (ratio of phage to bacteria, MOI) that results in complete lysis of a fixed number of bacteria 5 h after infection. Highly susceptible bacteria are completely lysed at low MOIs, while resistant bacteria may be lysed only partially or not at all, even at very high MOIs. Briefly, titres of the four bacteriophage stocks and the five bacterial strains,

prepared as described above, were determined by plaque assays and standard plate counts, respectively. Twenty microlitre volumes of each phage were serially diluted 10fold in 180 µl volumes of TSB containing 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> in wells of columns of 96-well microplates. Duplicate wells of each phage dilution were then inoculated with 20 µl the test bacterial culture, and the plates were incubated at 37°C for 5 h. Controls in each microplate included wells containing the TSB diluent inoculated with bacteria only, as a positive control for bacterial growth, with phage only, as a negative control, and with phage and a known susceptible bacterial strain, as a positive control for complete lysis. After incubation, the wells were visually inspected for turbidity due to bacterial growth and the highest dilution of phages to show complete lysis (no discernable turbidity) of each strain was recorded. The MOI at this dilution was calculated from the known titres of each phage and bacterial strain and normalized to the MOI required for complete lysis of 10<sup>6</sup> CFU of each strain. Strains requiring MOIs greater than 100-fold higher than the MOI of the same phage causing complete lysis of the inoculated strains were scored as resistant.

**3.2.8. Transmission electron microscopy.** Filter purified phage wV7 (1.0 ml,  $1.38 \times 10^8$ ), representative of the four administered phages all of the family *Myoviridae*, was centrifuged at 21.1 g (14.8K rpm) for 40min. The supernatant was decanted, and the pellet was washed by pipetting 200 µl sterile lambda diluent down the side of the tube, and immediately decanting the diluent off. Lambda diluent (800 µl) was then added to the phage pellet and the sample was mixed via vortexing. One droplet of phage solution was used for transmission electron microscopy (TEM).

For isolation of newly isolated phages forming large plaques with concentric bull's eye rings, plaque stabs, using 20µl sterile pipette tips, were taken from the centre of the lytic plaques on a dilution master plate and transferred to 1.5 ml sterile microcentrifuge tubes with sterile lambda diluent (1 ml). Samples were incubated at room temperature with gentle shaking (180 rpm) for 2 hours and then allowed to stand at 4°C overnight. Three subsequent serial dilutions,  $10^0$ ,  $10^{-1}$  and  $10^{-2}$ , (lambda diluent, 1 ml aliquots) were made in 1.5 ml centrifuge tubes. Dilutions were plated using the traditional overlay method described above and plates were incubated at 37 °C overnight. Sterile ultrapure H<sub>2</sub>0 (20µl) was pipetted directly onto a single plaque. A prepared TEM grid was then placed on top of the droplet for 1 min before being carefully removed and stained.

Formvar coated, copper mesh TEM grids (Pelco IGC 300) were placed on the sample droplets for 1 min. Excess moisture was removed by touching the edge of the grid to a piece of filter paper at a 45° angle. One drop of 2% uranyl acetate was placed on the grid and quickly removed with filter paper as described above. Samples were air-dried for 5 min prior to viewing with TEM (JEOL 100CX) at an image magnification of 50K. Resulting images were captured on film (Kodak 4489, 3.25" x.4" EM).

#### **3.2.9.** Statistical Methods.

For statistical analysis of enumeration data, all direct counts (CFU or PFU/g) were transformed to  $log_{10}$  values. Samples positive for *E. coli* O157:H7 or bacteriophages only by enrichment were assigned random values between 0 and 1 log<sub>10</sub> CFU/g or PFU/g. For frequency and prevalence data, samples positive for *E. coli* 

O157:H7 or bacteriophages by either direct or enrichment tests were scored as positive. Individual shedding levels (CFU or PFU/g) over the course of the trial and within a treatment group were averaged to determine the mean treatment shedding level for each treatment group. Fecal prevalence of phage and E. coli O157 was determined by calculating the percent of positive samples out of the total number of samples collected from individual animals within a treatment group. Descriptive statistics were generated using the FREQ procedure of SAS (Statistical Analysis System, 1999, SAS Institute, Cary, NC). The least squares means (LS-Means) function of the MIXED model procedure of SAS, using repeated measures, was used to compare the individual and mean treatment shedding levels of Nal<sup>R</sup> E. coli O157:H7 and bacteriophage from fecal grab and environmental samples. Odds ratios were also calculated for the prevalence of Nal<sup>R</sup> E. coli O157:H7 and bacteriophage-positive samples using the GLIMMIX procedure of SAS with CON cohorts as the referent. Mean treatment shedding levels were compared using the LSMEANS function within the repeated measures MIXED model procedure of SAS. Statistical significance was determined at P < 0.10.

#### **3.3. RESULTS**

Prior to the beginning of the trial, all fecal and environmental samples were negative for Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7, *E. coli* O157:H7 and *E. coli* O157-lytic bacteriophages. After administration of the phages, all treated animals shed bacteriophages in their feces. Mean fecal phage levels were greatest in the O+R (7.38  $log_{10}$  PFU/g) and ORL (6.27  $log_{10}$  PFU/g) groups on D 1, one day after the second bacteriophage treatment and oral inoculation with *E. coli* O157:H7 (Figure 3-1A).

Populations then decreased throughout the experimental period, with the exception of a slight increase in phage levels on D 13 following the final phage treatment on D 9. By D 3, CON steers were shedding bacteriophages with the same plaque morphology as the administered phages in their feces at levels similar to REC steers (P = 0.39) even though phage was not directly administered to this group. Enrichment was required to detect phage in all treatment groups after D 20.

Furthermore, on D 3, plaques exhibiting a morphology and size that were different from that of the experimental phages (5.16 mm with concentric rings vs. 0.99 mm without rings) appeared on overlay plates of samples collected from O+R steers. By D 5, phages forming large plaques with this unique morphology were isolated from steers in all treatment groups. Though both small and large plaques could be found together on one plate, often one replicate plate would exhibit small plaques and the other replicate plate would exhibit large plaques (Figure 3-2A, B). Endogenous phage accounted for roughly 8 % of the total phage count.

Transmission electron microscopy of phages with this unique colony morphology indicated that they may to belong to the family (*Siphoviridae*), whereas inoculated phages were members of the *Myoviridae* family (Figure 3-2C, D, Table 3-2). Both families are members of the same order, *Caudovirales*. Subsequent phage counts during the study included both the administered and endemic phages. On this basis, mean treatment bacteriophage shedding levels (log PFU/g of feces) were higher (P = 0.03) in ORL and O+R than in CON or REC (Figure 3-1B). Bacteriophage-positive samples were 2.31 times more likely to be found in ORL (P = 0.03), and 1.91 times more likely to be found in O+R (P = 0.07), than in CON (Table 3-1).

All steers were culture positive for Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 on D 1 following inoculation on D 0 (Figure 3-3A). Mean treatment group shedding levels on D 1 ranged from 3.95 to 7.03 log CFU/g of feces. Nalidixic acid-resistant *E. coli* O157:H7 levels declined in all treatment groups until D 21, with the exception of a brief increase in shedding by CON, REC, and O+R steers on D 9, prior to the final phage treatment. Also, a rise in levels in the ORL and O+R groups occurred between D 27and 41. Thereafter, levels of Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 declined from D 49 until the completion of the experiment. The overall mean shedding level (log<sub>10</sub> CFU/g of feces) was higher in REC steers (P < 0.10) than in the other three treatments (Figure 3-3B).

Figure 4A displays the fecal shedding patterns of Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 in individual animals throughout the trial. After D 13, individual animals often were culturenegative for a number of consecutive weeks before being once again confirmed positive for Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7. Overall, the ORL steers had fewer (P = 0.06) Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 culture-positive samples compared to REC and O+R, but only nominally fewer (P = 0.26) than CON animals (Figure 3-4B).

Pulsed field gel electrophoresis analysis of the inoculated strains (Figure 3-5) revealed the anticipated differences in PFGE profiles that would enable assessment of the frequency of shedding of the five individual inoculated strains, and identification of any isolates with different PFGE profiles. Among 118 fecal or manure pat isolates (60 from D 1 and 58 from D 69, 76 and 83), 107 had the same PFGE profiles as the inoculated strains and 11 had different profiles. There was considerable variation in the frequency of the individual inoculated strains (Table 3-3). Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 strain 318N was the most frequent among the inoculated strains (48/107) both at the beginning and the end

of the trial, whereas strain E32511 was not among the isolates recovered. The others were intermediate in frequency (Table 3-3). The virulence of the inoculated phages for each of the five Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 strains included in the inoculum was quite similar (Table 3-4). Therefore, differences in the frequency of recovery of the different strains during the trial were not likely attributable to development of resistance to bacteriophages within specific strains.

The 11 isolates different from the inoculated strains by PFGE had five different PFGE profiles (Figure 3-5). All were isolated from fecal or manure pat samples collected late in the trial. Microplate assay analysis of the virulence of one strain representing each of two of the new PFGE profiles revealed that one had up to a 10<sup>5</sup> increase in resistance to phage wV8, though no such differences in resistance to the other three phages (rV5, wV7 and wV11) was evident (Table 3-4).

Both Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 and bacteriophage persisted in the environment for the majority of the 83 D trial. The O157-specific phages and Nal<sup>R</sup> *E. coli* O157:H7 were isolated from pen floor manure samples up to D 76 and D 83, respectively. Bacteriophage and *E. coli* O157:H7 were found more frequently in manure samples than in water and feed samples (Table 3-5). Treatment did not have an effect on the prevalence of environmental manure samples culture-positive for *E. coli* O157:H7 (P = 0.74) or bacteriophage (P = 0.56).

#### **3.4. DISCUSSION**

Recent work has drawn attention to the recto-anal junction as the primary site of E. coli O157:H7 colonization in cattle (Naylor et al., 2007; Naylor et al., 2003). Sheng et al., (2006) demonstrated a reduction in fecal shedding of E. coli O157:H7 with rectal administration of bacteriophage (4 x 25 ml of  $10^{10}$  PFU/ml). However, Sheng et al. (2006) also continuously administered bacteriophage orally via drinking water (1.8 x  $10^6$ to 5.4 x  $10^{6}$  PFU/ml), a factor that we believe to be the primary reason for the significant decrease in the shedding of E. coli O157:H7 observed in treated animals in their study. Our study examined both rectal and oral phage administration separately as well as in combination. We established that oral administration of bacteriophage resulted in fewer E. coli O157:H7-positive samples and a lower mean shedding level of E. coli O157:H7 than did rectal administration of bacteriophage. Colonization may be greatest at the rectoanal junction; however, E. coli O157:H7 has also been shown to colonize more proximal regions of the GIT (Grauke et al., 2002). Application of bacteriophage to the rectum would not facilitate distribution of phage to the upper regions of the GIT that could be colonized by E. coli O157:H7. Additionally, oral application of phage established a higher phage titre within the steers than did rectal application. This may be due to a longer period of retention of phage within the digestive tract as it flows with the liquid or solid phases of digesta. By increasing retention time and exposure to E. coli O157:H7 cells with oral application, bacteriophage likely have increased opportunity to interact with the target host and replicate, increasing their population and the likelihood of infection of additional E. coli O157:H7 cells. These factors likely contributed to the

more pronounced decrease in *E. coli* O157:H7 that was more pronounced in cattle orally treated with phage.

Though oral administration of bacteriophage significantly reduced the fecal shedding of E. coli O157:H7 by feedlot steers, E. coli O157:H7 was not eliminated. This finding is consistent with the only other known study to administer O157-specific bacteriophage to adult cattle (Sheng et al., 2006). Application of bacteriophage to sheep for the mitigation of E. coli O157:H7 was also not successful in eliminating the pathogen (Bach et al., 2003) though application to calves has resulted in complete elimination (Waddell et al., 2000). There are many reasons why it may not be possible to eliminate E. *coli* O157:H7 from mature ruminant animals. Phage particles must collide with a target host cell for infection and lysis to occur. As E. coli O157:H7 and bacteriophage populations decrease within the animal it becomes less likely that such a collision will occur within the voluminous ruminant digestive tract. This demonstrates a physical limitation of bacteriophage therapy. Further, if an animal does become culture negative, persistence of E. coli O157:H7 in the environment may result in re-coloniaztion. Our study demonstrated the persistence of E. coli O157:H7 in manure for the duration of the 12-week experimental period, though few positive samples were obtained from water and feed, as previously reported (Bach et al., 2005). Kudva et al., (1998) showed that E. coli O157:H7 survived in experimentally inoculated sheep manure, under fluctuating environmental conditions, for 21 months. Though it is known that shedding of E. coli O157:H7 in cattle is transient, it is possible that animals regaining culture-positive status after testing negative for a number of consecutive weeks may have been recolonized via the fecal-oral route (Stevenson et al., 2003).

This study employed a bacteriophage preparation with characteristics that in the past have previously proven successful in reducing target populations. The phage preparation consisted of a mixture of four phages (rV5, wV7, wV8, and wV11) and application of a "phage cocktail" has been shown to be more effective in reducing a target bacterial population than application of a single phage strain. Administration of multiple phage strains such as phage combinations SP21-22 (Tanji et al., 2004) and SP15-21-22 (Tanji et al., 2005) have been shown to slow the development of phage resistance in *E. coli* O157:H7 when compared to administration of a single strain. A phage cocktail may also attack a wider range of *E. coli* O157:H7 strains (Tanji et al., 2005).

It has also been shown that administration of multiple doses of a phage over a period of days is more effective than a single dose of phage, possibly aiding in the establishment of phage populations within the animal. Tanji et al. (2005) demonstrated that administration of a single oral dose of bacteriophage ( $10^8$  or  $10^{10}$  PFU) to mice did not alter *E. coli* O157:H7 levels, and was insufficient to establish a stable phage titre within the mouse GIT, while daily administration of phage (8 D experimental period) resulted in near elimination of *E. coli* O157:H7 in the mouse GIT and maintenance of a phage titre above  $10^3$  PFU/fecal pellet for 5 days. Sheng et al. (2006) also employed a multiple dosing regime by rectally administering phage to cattle four times as well as providing constant exposure with the inclusion of phage in water sources (maintained daily at  $10^6$  PFU/ml). In our study, phage titres in the ORL and O+R steers remained above  $10^4$  PFU/g feces for the first seven days following the initial phage administration (D -2), and above  $10^2$  PFU/g feces until at least D 13 of the trial. Two weeks after the

final phage administration, enrichment was required for the detection of bacteriophages in all treatment groups. Finally, success has also been shown when a phage preparation was administered both before and after bacterial challenge (Waddell et al, 2000). This may suggest that bacteriophage therapy works well as a preventative therapy as well as a treatment therapy (Smith and Huggins, 1982), especially if phages are present in the GIT prior to the establishment of *E. coli* O157:H7 colonization.

Development of phage-resistant mutants was noted early on in the history of bacteriohpage therapy and has continued to appear in recent work (Smith and Huggins, 1982; Tanji et al., 2005). A number of isolates collected at the end of this trial displayed PFGE banding patterns slightly different than that of the original five experimental strains. These isolates also demonstrated increased resistance to one of the four experimental phage strains. Smith and Huggins (1982) noted the presence of phageresistant mutants in their *E. coli*/phage experiments; however, they chose to use a bacteriophage that was specific to a capsular antigen on the target cell involved in pathogenicity. This intuitive concept meant that if phage resistance developed, by loss or alteration of the target antigen, it would be reflected in the bacterial cell by a decline in virulence.

Counts of *E. coli* O157:H7 established using the challenge model in our study were much higher than those previously reported in naturally infected cattle (Omisakin et al., 2003; Zhao et al., 1995). However, animals shedding *E. coli* O157:H7 at nominal levels are not responsible for the majority of meat contamination during slaughter. A relatively small percentage of the herd (~9 %) consistently sheds very high levels of fecal O157 (>  $10^4$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> feces), with these animals being proposed to be responsible for

nearly 96 % of beef product adulteration (Omisakin et al., 2003). Bacteriophage therapy appears to be most effective in reducing *E. coli* O157:H7 levels when these levels are high (>  $10^4$  CFU g<sup>-1</sup> feces). Therefore, bacteriophage administration could target the shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 in the so-called super-shedders, significantly decreasing the incidence of meat adulteration and human illness.

In the past, bacteriophage therapy studies with ruminants have been carried out under experimental conditions unlike that of the commercial feedlot (Bach et al., 2003; Sheng et al., 2006). In such studies, animals receiving bacteriophage were housed in containment facilities, which prevented contact between animals within different treatments. This study deliberately examined the efficacy of bacteriophage therapy in a more typical production setting. Variables such as the environment and animal-to-animal contact were considered. Though two pens were designated for each phage treatment, steers in this study were permitted nose-to nose contact, and a water trough was shared by pens within the same treatment. In addition, each animal was also passed through a common handling area during treatment and sampling periods, in a manner that was similar to management practices that would be employed in a commercial feedlot. Under these conditions bacteriophages were present in the feces of CON steers on d 0, after only one application of phage to treatment cattle on D-2. Once in the CON steers, bacteriophage replicated to achieve levels that were not significantly different from those in the steers that were rectally treated with phage. Consequently, the possibility that the levels of bacteriophage in REC steers arose as a result of these animals acquiring phage from the environment cannot be eliminated. The fact that phage levels in the CON steers were similar to those in REC steers, clearly demonstrates that significant replication of

phage occurred within the digestive tract of CON steers. Environmental transmission of phage among cattle within the feedlot could be advantageous in reducing the levels of E. *coli* O157:H7 within the feedlot.

Transmission electron microscope images of phages isolated from large plaques appear to belong to the family *Siphoviridae*, due to the symmetrical cubic capsid head and long non-contractile tail, traits that are characteristic of this family (Ackermann, 2006). Many studies have examined *Siphoviridae* phage specific to *E. coli* O157 (Datz et al., 1996; Johansen et al., 2001; Tobe et al., 2006). A well-studied member of this family is bacteriophage lambda ( $\lambda$ ), a temperate phage of *E. coli*. Phage of this nature are not of interest for bacteriophage therapy as they typically have a longer latent period and are more likely to transfer genes to the host through transduction (Datz et al., 1996). However, the quick spread of this phage from O+R steers (appearing first on d 3) to steers in the other treatment groups, further demonstrates the movement of phage through the environment and establishment of phage populations *in vivo*, via oral exposure.

Bacteriophages were found in pen-floor manure for a period up to D 76 of the trial. Manure samples positive for bacteriophage were not always positive for *E. coli* O157:H7, indicating survivability of phage in the absence of a detectable host. This environmental stability, in conjunction with the ability of phage to replicate *in vivo*, could be exploited for application on a larger scale, if bacteriophage could be administered with bedding or feed. Such a method of phage application would negate the need for individual administration to each animal and increase the likelihood of cattle acquiring phage on multiple days throughout the feeding period.

Bacteriophage therapy has been shown to be a successful mitigation strategy in controlling and treating various bacterial infections. In this study, the oral application of bacteriophage was more effective in establishing fecal phage populations and mitigating fecal *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle than rectal bacteriophage application. The ability of phage to survive for extended periods in the environment, as well as the ability of phage to pass from one animal to another, suggests that large-scale application of phage to feedlot animals may be a feasible means of mitigating *E. coli* O157:H7 in the environment. Development of a method to administer phage in feed or water on a daily basis could make bacteriophage therapy a feasible tool for the mitigation of *E. coli* O157:H7 in feedlots.

## **3.5. REFERENCES**

- Ackermann, H.-W. 2006. Classification of bacteriophages, p. 8-13. *In* R. Calendar (ed.), The Bacteriophages. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.
- Bach, S. J., T. A. McAllister, D. M. Veira, V. Gannon, and R. A. Holley. 2003. Effect of bacteriophage DC22 on *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in an artificial rumen system (Rusitec) and inoculated sheep. *Anim. Res.* 52:89-101.
- Bach, S. J., L. J. Selinger, K. Stanford, and T. A. McAllister. 2005. Effect of supplementing corn- or barley-based feedlot diets with canola oil on faecal shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by steers. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 98:464-475.
- Borczyk, A. A., M. A. Karmali, H. Lior, and L. M. C. Duncan. 1987. Bovine reservoir for verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Lancet*. 1:98.
- CCAC. 1993. Guide to the care and use of experimental animals. Volume 1. Page 212 inE. D. Olfert, B. M. Cross, and A. A. McWilliams, eds. Canadian Council on
Animal Care, Ottawa, ON. Available at:

http://www.ccac.ca/en/CCAC\_Programs/Guidelines\_Policies/GUIDES/ENGLIS H/toc\_v1.htm

- CDC. 1996. Standardized Molecular Subtyping of Foodborne Bacterial Pathogens by
  Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis: A Manual. Page 382 in Atlanta, GA: National
  Center for Infectious Diseases, Centres for Disease Control and Prevention.
  PulseNet: the molecular subtyping network for foodborne bacterial disease
  surveillance, United States.
- Cray W. C., and H. W. Moon. 1995. Experimental infection of calves and adult cattle with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 61:1586-1590.
- Datz, M., C. Janetzki-Mittmann, S. Franke, F. Gunzer, H. Schmidt, and H. Karch. 1996.
  Analysis of the enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 DNA region containing lambdoid phage gene p and Shiga-like toxin structural genes. Appl. Environ.
  Microbiol. 62:791-797.
- Elder, R. O., J. E. Keen, G. R. Siragusa, G. A. Barkocy-Gallagher, M. Koohmaraie, and W. W. Laegreid. 2000. Correlation of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 prevalence in feces, hides, and carcasses of beef cattle during processing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 97:2999-3003.
- Erickson, M. C., and M. P. Doyle. 2007. Food as a vehicle for transmission of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. J. Food Prot. 70:2426-2449.
- Grauke, L. J., I. T. Kudva, J. W. Yoon, C. W. Hunt, C. J. Williams, and C. J Hovde.
  2002. Gastrointestinal tract location of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in ruminants. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68:2269-77.

- Griffin, P. M. and R. V. Tauxe. 1991. The epidemiology of infections caused by *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, other enterohemorrhagic *E. coli*, and the associated hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Epidemiol. Rev.* 13:60-98.
- Hancock, D. D., T. E. Besser, M. L. Kinsel, P. I. Tarr, D. H. Rice, and M. G. Paros. 1994.
  The prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157.H7 in dairy and beef cattle in
  Washington State. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 113:199-207.
- Johansen, B. K., Y. Wasteson, P. E. Granum, and S. Brynestad. 2001. Mosaic structure of Shiga-toxin-2-encoding phages isolated from *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 indicates frequent gene exchange between lambdoid phage genomes. Microbiol. 147:1929-1936.
- Kudva, I. T., K. Blanch, and C. J. Hovde. 1998. Analysis of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 survival in ovine or bovine manure and manure slurry. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 64:3166-3174.
- Kudva, I. T., S. Jelacic, P. I. Tarr, P. Youderian, and C. J. Hovde. 1999. Biocontrol of *Escherichia coli* O157 with O157-specific bacteriophages. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 65:3767-3773.
- Naylor, S. W., J. C. Low, T. E. Besser, A. Mahajan, G. J. Gunn, M. C. Pearce, I. J.
  McKendrick, D. G. Smith, and D. L. Gally. 2003. Lymphoid follicle-dense
  mucosa at the terminal rectum is the principal site of colonization of
  enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in the bovine host. *Infect. Immun.*71:1505-1512.
- Naylor, S. W., P. Nart, J. Sales, A. Flockhart, D. L. Gally, and J. C. Low. 2007. Impact of the direct application of therapeutic agents to the terminal recta of experimentally

colonized calves on *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 shedding. *Appl. Environ*. *Microbiol.* 73:1493-1500.

- PHAC. 2007. C-EnterNet 2006 Annual Report. Available at: http://www.phacaspc.gc.ca/publicat/2007/c-enternet06/pdf/06-areport\_e.pdf. Accessed November 19, 2007.
- Omisakin, F., M. MacRae, I. D. Ogden, and N. J. Strachan. 2003. Concentration and prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle feces at slaughter. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69:2444-2447.
- Orskov, F., I. Orskov, and J. A. Villar. 1987. Cattle as a reservoir of verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Lancet*. 2:276.
- Rahn, K., S. A. Renwick, R. P. Johnson, J. B. Wilson, R. C. Clarke, D. Alves, S.
  McEwen, H. Lior, and J. Spika. 1997. Persistence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in dairy cattle and the dairy farm environment. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 119:251-259.
- Rasmussen, M. A., W. C. Cray, T. A. Casey, and S. C. Whipp. 1993. Rumen contents as a reservoir of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*. *FEMS Microbiol*. *Lett.* 114:79-84.
- Riley, L. W., R. S. Remis, S. D. Helgerson, H. B. McGee, J. G. Wells, B. R. Davis, R. J. Hebert, E. S. Olcott, L. M. Johnson, N. T. Hargrett, P. A. Blake, and M. L. Cohen.
  1983. Hemorrhagic colitis associated with a rare *Escherichia coli* serotype. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 308:681-685.
- Sambrook, J. 1989. Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. J. Sambrook (ed.) Cold Spring Harbor, Laboratory Cold Spring Harbor, NY.

SAS Institute Inc. 1999. SAS User's Guide:Statistics. Version 8.2. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.

- Sheng, H., H. J. Knecht, I. T. Kudva, and C. J. Hovde. 2006. Application of bacteriophages to control intestinal *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 levels in ruminants.
   *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 72:5359-5366.
- Smith, H. W. and M. B. Huggins. 1982. Successful treatment of experimental *Escherichia coli* infections in mice using phage: its general superiority over antibiotics. *J. Gen. Microbiol.* 128:307-318.
- Stevenson, S. M., T. A. McAllister, L. B. Selinger, L. J. Yanke, M. E. Olson, D. W. Morck, and R. R. Read. 2003. Transfer of a rifampicin-resistant *Escherichia coli* strain among feedlot cattle. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 95:398-410.
- Tanji, Y., T. Shimada, H. Fukudomi, K. Miyanaga, Y. Nakai, and H. Unno. 2005. Therapeutic use of phage cocktail for controlling *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in gastrointestinal tract of mice. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.* 100:280-287.
- Tanji, Y., T. Shimada, M. Yoichi, K. Miyanaga, K. Hori, and H. Unno. 2004. Toward rational control of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by a phage cocktail. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 64:270-274.
- Tenover, F. C., R. D. Arbeit, R. V. Goering, P. A. Mickelsen, B. E. Murray, D. H. Persing, and B. Swaminathan. 1995. Interpreting chromosomal DNA restriction patterns produced by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis: criteria for bacterial strain typing. J. Clin. Microbiol. 33:2233-2239.
- Tobe, T., S. A. Beatson, H. Taniguchi, H. Abe, C. M. Bailey, A. Fivian, R. Younis, S. Matthews, O. Marches, G. Frankel, T. Hayashi, and M. J. Pallen. 2006. An

extensive repertoire of type III secretion effectors in *Escherichia coli* O157 and the role of lambdoid phages in their dissemination. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103:14941-14946.

- Van Donkersgoed, J., J. Berg, A. Potter, D. Hancock, T. Besser, D. Rice, J. LeJeune, and
  S. Klashinsky. 2001. Environmental sources and transmission of *Escherichia coli*O157 in feedlot cattle. *Can. Vet. J.* 42:714-720.
- Waddell, T., A. Mazzocco, R. P. Johnson, J. Pacan, S. Campbell, S. A. Perets, J.
   MacKinnon, B. Holtslander, C. Pope, and C. Gyles. 2000. Control of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection in calves by bacteriophages. Kyoto, Japan.
- Zhao, T., M. P. Doyle, J. Shere, and L. Garber. 1995. Prevalence of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in a survey of dairy herds. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 61:1290-1293.

Escherichia coli *O157:H7 from fecal grab samples within a specified treatment group* when compared to that of CON samples.

TABLE 3-1. Odds ratios representing the likelihood of isolating bacteriophage or  $Nal^{R}$ 

Treatment	OR 95% CI		<i>P</i> -value		
Teatment	Bacteriophage				
REC <sup>1</sup>	1.33	0.63 to 2.81	0.34		
$O+R^2$	1.91	0.92 to 3.98	0.07		
ORL <sup>3</sup>	2.31	1.11 to 4.80	0.03		
	Nal <sup>R</sup> Escherichia coli O157				
REC <sup>1</sup>	1.51	0.62 to 3.72	0.27		
$O+R^2$	0.92	0.40 to 2.10	0.78		
ORL <sup>3</sup>	0.72	0.32 to 1.60	0.31		

<sup>1</sup>Rectal administration of 1.5 x 10<sup>11</sup> PFU bacteriophage

<sup>2</sup>Oral and rectal administration of 4.8 x 10<sup>11</sup> PFU bacteriophage total

<sup>3</sup>Oral administration of  $3.3 \times 10^{11}$  PFU bacteriophage

TABLE 3-2. Capsid and tail measurements of the experimental phage wV7 and endogenous phage (large plaque-producing) as determined by transmission electron microscopy.

Property (nm)	wV7	Endogenous
Capsid width	67.71	51.73
Capsid length	95.05	53.13
Tail width	92.64	158.67
Tail length	16.36	10.90

TABLE 3-3. Numbers of fecal Nal<sup>R</sup> Escherichia coli O157:H7 isolates collected<sup>b</sup> one day after experimental inoculation of steers or at the end of a 12-week experimental period that exhibited known or unknown PFGE banding patterns following XbaI digestion of genomic DNA

Strain as identified by - PFGE	CON		ORL		RI	REC		O+R	
	d 1	End							
R508N	4	1	2	2	2	3	2	0	
E318N	8	6	4	10	4	8	5	4	
H4420N	1	0	2	0	4	0	4	4	
E32511	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
CO281-31N	4	0	6	6	4	1	4	2	
Unknown <sup>a</sup>	0	2	0	1	0	6	0	2	

<sup>*a*</sup> Banding patterns dissimilar to all of the five strains used in the experimental inoculation of steers.

<sup>b</sup> Isolated from fecal samples and environmental manure samples

TABLE 3-4. Relative susceptibilities<sup>a</sup> of the five known strains of Escherichia coli0157:H7 and two novel isolates to each of the four bacteriophage strains used in theexperimental cocktail

	Bacteriophage				
<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	rV5	wV7	wV8	wV11	
Strain R508N	6	6	9	7	
Strain E318N	8	5	8	7	
Strain H4420N	6	6	5	7	
Strain E32511	6	4	6	7	
Strain CO281-31N	5	4	8	6	
Isolate 492A	8	5	>10	7	
Isolate 535A	6	6	9	7	

<sup>*a*</sup> Values shown are lowest titres ( $\log_{10}$  PFU/ml) at which complete lysis of *E. coli* O157:H7 occurred.

	Treatment				
Sample type <sup><i>a</i></sup>	CON	ORL	REC	O+R	Total
Water ( <i>n</i> = 12)		<u></u>		-	
<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (8.3)	3 (6.3)
Bacteriophage	1 (8.3)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)	2 (16.7)	4 (8.3)
Feed $(n = 24)$					
<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	2 (8.3)	1 (4.2)	2 (8.3)	2 (8.3)	7 (7.3)
Bacteriophage	0 (0.0)	3 (12.5)	0 (0.0)	1 (4.2)	4 (4.2)
Manure $(n = 24)$					
<i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	13 (54.2)	11 (45.8)	18 (75.0)	13 (54.2)	55 (57.3)
Bacteriophage	13 (54.2)	13 (54.2)	11 (45.8)	10 (41.7)	47 (49.0)

TABLE 3-5. Numbers (and percentages) of positive Escherichia coli O157:H7 and O17-specific bacteriophage environmental samples collected over a 12-week experimental period.

<sup>*a*</sup>Samples were collected weekly for 12 w. Samples were collected from each pen with the exception of water samples (100 ml), which were collected from troughs shared by pens within a treatment. Feed (10 g) and manure (1 g) sub-samples were taken from greater pooled samples for analysis.



₿

102

Fig. 3-1

FIGURE 3-1. Fecal shedding (A) and mean shedding levels (B) of bacteriophage by treatment in experimentally inoculated steers treated orally (ORL;  $3.3 \times 10^{11}$  PFU), rectally (REC;  $1.5 \times 10^{11}$  PFU), both orally and rectally (O+R;  $4.8 \times 10^{11}$  PFU), or not treated (CON) with O157-specific bacteriophage on days –2, 0, 2, 6, and 9. The shaded area in (A) represents shedding detected following enrichment. Day –2 data was not included in mean shedding levels as phage had not yet been administered at the time of sampling. <sup>a, b</sup>Bars with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.10).



FIGURE 3-2. Duplicate bacteriophage overlay plates showing the small plaques of the experimental phage (A) and large plaques (B) of the endogenous phage which was first isolated on d 3. Transmission electron microscope images of experimental phage wV7 (C) and the endogenous (large plaque-producing) phage (D).







FIGURE 3-3. Fecal shedding (A) and mean shedding levels (B) of Nal<sup>R</sup> E. coli O157:H7by treatment in experimentally inoculated steers treated orally (ORL;  $3.3 \times 10^{11}$ PFU), rectally (REC;  $1.5 \times 10^{11}$  PFU), both orally and rectally (O+R;  $4.8 \times 10^{11}$  PFU), or not treated (CON) with O157-specific bacteriophage on days –2, 0, 2, 6, and 9. The shaded area in (A) represents shedding detected following enrichment. Days –2 and 0 data was not included in mean shedding levels as Nal<sup>R</sup> E. coli O157:H7 had not yet been administered at the time of sampling. <sup>a, b</sup>Bars with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.10).

Fig. 3-4



Animal number



FIGURE 3-4. . Fecal shedding patterns (A) and prevalence of culture-positive E. coli O157:H7 fecal samples (B) by animal from experimentally inoculated steers treated orally (ORL;  $3.3 \times 10^{11}$  PFU), rectally (REC;  $1.5 \times 10^{11}$  PFU), both orally and rectally (O+R;  $4.8 \times 10^{11}$  PFU), or not treated (CON) with O157-specific bacteriophage. In (A) grey cells represent E. coli O157:H7 culture-positive samples; white cells represent culture-negative samples. Hatched cells indicate no data available (early removal of animal 874). <sup>a, b</sup>Bars with different letters are significantly different (P < 0.10).

Fig. 3-5



FIGURE 3-5. Pulsed-field gel electrophoretic analysis of Xbal-digested genomic DNA from the five laboratory strains of Escherichia coli O157:H7 used to inoculate the steers and from two representative isolates that exhibited novel banding patterns. Lanes 1 to 5 contain the known E. coli O157:H7 strains E32511, H4420N, E318N, C0281-31N and R508N, respectively. Lane 6: Isolate 535B, obtained on d 83 from treatment group O+R; Lane 7 Isolate 492A (d 76; REC); Lanes labeled M contain molecular weight marker ranging from 48.5 to 485 kb.

### Chapter 4

#### **4. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS**

## 4.1. Limitations

Thought there are many advantageous features of bacteriophage therapy, there are also limitations. These limitations occur as a result of the biological nature of phage therapy.

Early research demonstrated rapid clearing of administered bacteriophages from circulation when injected into mice and rats (Nungester and Watrous, 1934; Appelmans, 1921), with longer-term survival noted in the spleen of treated animals (Appelmans, 1921). In these studies bacteriophage was administered in the absence of a suitable host. A later study by Dubos et al., (1943) also showed a quick drop in circulatory levels of bacteriophage with interperitoneal administration in the absence of a host. However, when a *Shigella dysenteriae* preparation was injected intercerebrally along with interperitoneal phage administration, a high level of bacteriophage was noted in the brain of the mice. Also phage persisted in the circulatory system for  $\sim 75 - 138$  h as long as phage levels remained high in the brain (Dubos et al., 1943). In these cases, inactivation of phage by antibodies (Merril et al., 2003) was not involved as clearance occurred much quicker than would allow the production of anti-phage antibodies. The reticuloendothelial system (RES) has since been identified responsible for the rapid clearance of phage from treated animals, which results in phage levels below that capable of clearing infection (Geier et al., (1973); Merril et al., 2003).

In an attempt to increase the period of circulation of administered phages, phage preparations were passed through experimental animals numerous times to generate a sub-population of "long-lasting" phages, possessing longer retention times in the circulatory system (Barrow & Soothill, 1997). The therapeutic value of these phages, however, was not determined (Barrow & Soothill, 1997).

Phage neutralizing antibodies have been isolated during bacteriophage therapy studies (Slopek & Ku..., 1987; Kucharewicz-Krukowska & Slopek, 1987). Antibodies appeared after a few weeks post-administration of phage and it is unclear for how long these antibodies would circulate or how quickly they would appear following additional rounds of phage administration. The production of *E. coli* O157-specific phage neutralizing antibodies in adult cattle has not yet been documented.

Administration of multiple doses of phage over a period of time appears to be more effective in mitigating the shedding of *E. coli* than does administration of a single dose. A treatment regime of multiple doses over time, however, presents the opportunity for clearing of phage by the reticuloendothelial system, as well as the potential development of antibodies against an administered phage preparation.

As noted above, one advantage of phage therapy is the specificity by which phages attack their host. Phage therapy can strategically eliminate a target pathogen without disturbing the natural microflora of the bovine GIT. This characteristic of phages, however, can also result in a limitation of phage therapy. Because phages are so specific, mutation in the host population may lead to decreased host susceptibility, or increased resistance, to the therapeutic phage. Resistance of *E. coli* to bacteriophage has been documented in phage therapy studies (Smith and Huggins, 1982; Tanji et al., 2005).

Another limitation resulting from phage specificity is the difference in susceptibility among various *E. coli* O157 strains. The distribution of *E. coli* O157:H7 strains are regional; therefore a phage cocktail that is successful in mitigating *E. coli* O157:H7 shedding in one herd or region may not be appropriate for another. The use of a phage cocktail as opposed to a single strain of phage has been suggested to combat the limitations resulting from phage specificity (Tanji et al., 2005).

# 4.2. General Conclusions

Cattle are considered an important reservoir of the human pathogen *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 (Hancock et al., 2001; Renter and Sargeant, 2002) and fecal shedding of *E. coli* O157:H7 by cattle has been associated with contamination of beef products (Elder et al., 2000). For the past 15 years, researchers have investigated various methods for mitigating *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle, though at this time no one method offers an exclusive solution to this problem. This thesis attempted to further our knowledge in the use of bacteriophage therapy for controlling *E. coli* O157:H7 in cattle by comparing current methods of phage administration and presenting an opportunity for future large-scale application. Chapter 2 highlighted the importance of *E. coli* O157:H7 as a foodborne pathogen and the association of this pathogen with cattle. Chapter 2 also discussed the various approaches that have been examined for *E. coli* O157:H7 mitigation. Chapter 3 compared oral and rectal application of a bacteriophage cocktail to experimentally inoculated steers and monitored bacteriophage in the environment of these steers.

Prior to completing the research presented in this thesis it was known that bacteriophage therapy could reduce the fecal shedding of E. coli O157:H7 in cattle, as discussed in Chapter 2. Recently, the recto-anal junction was identified as an important region of E. coli O157:H7 colonization in cattle (Naylor et al., 2003) and subsequent mitigation studies have targeted this area of the animal using phage therapy (Sheng et al., 2006). In fact, the work conducted in my thesis was in progress when the manuscript of Sheng et al. (2003) was published in which similar phage-based strategies were used in an attempt to control *E coli* O157:H7. In Chapter 3, we showed that oral administration of bacteriophage was superior to rectal administration of bacteriophage in a number of ways. Oral treatment resulted in a higher mean shedding level of bacteriophage than did rectal treatment. As discussed, a higher shedding level was likely due to a longer retention time of the phage within the steers, resulting in a longer period of phage replication prior to excretion with digesta. Oral phage treatment also resulted in a lower mean shedding level of E. coli O157:H7. The research presented in Chapter 3 indicates that, though a high proportion of E. coli O157:H7 colonization occurs at the recto-anal junction, oral application of bacteriophage is more effective in controlling E. coli O157:H7 in cattle than rectal application of a bacteriophage cocktail.

Current rectal and oral administration strategies require multiple treatments with phage. Such a treatment strategy would require a large investment of time, especially in a facility such as a feedlot. It would therefore be advantageous to develop a large-scale method of phage administration. In Chapter 3, bacteriophages were found in the manure on the pen floor in pens housing steers that had been treated with bacteriophage. It is unknown, however, how long viable phage populations could last under various

environmental conditions. A possible next step in bacteriophage therapy research would be to develop phage preparations that were inert in the environment, but remained infective once they entered the GIT of an animal, giving them the opportunity to interact with host cells. In Chapter 3, steers that had not been treated with bacteriophage appeared to acquire phage from their environment, likely from the manure of phage-treated steers present in common areas, such as the chute and squeeze. Ingested bacteriophages were then able to replicate within the animals. Development of an environmental phage delivery protocol may make bacteriophage control of *E. coli* O157 more efficacious in a commercial feedlot.

Bacteriophage therapy has been successful in treating bacterial infections in mice (Tanji et al., 2005; Sheng et al., 2006; Smith and Huggins, 1982) and even infections with *Shigella, Staphylococcus, Pseudomonas* and *E. coli* in humans (Sulakvelidze et al., 2001). With the exception of one study (Waddell et al., 2000) bacteriophage therapy has not completely eliminated *E. coli* O157:H7 from inoculated steers. In mice and human studies, bacteriophage administration was employed to treat bacteria that caused disease in their host, however, this is not the case with *E. coli* O157:H7 and cattle. *E. coli* O157:H7 is not a bovine pathogen and naturally colonizes healthy cattle (Montenegro et al., 1990). Though bacteriophage therapy can clear bacterial infections in humans and mice, the lack of an immune response towards *E. coli* O157:H7 from cattle. An immune response against *E. coli* O157:H7 may help to target cells when present at low levels, when the rate of bacteriophage-host collision is also low. It may be necessary to combine phage therapy with another method of mitigation, such as the immunization strategy

outlined by Potter et al., (2004), in order to completely eliminate *E. coli* O157:H7 from cattle.

An important step towards implementing bacteriophage therapy as an *E. coli* O157:H7 mitigation strategy in cattle is ensuring human safety in the case of O157-specific bacteriophage consumption. Bacteriophages are highly specific to their target host cell and would most likely present no danger if consumed along with beef products. Bacteriophages have even been isolated from human stool samples (Chibani-Chennoufi et al., 2004). A recent study administered *E. coli*-specific bacteriophage T4 to healthy adults and no adverse effects were noted (Bruttin and Brüssow, 2005).

The number of cases of human *E. coli* O157:H7 infections have increased over the past 3 years. Because beef products are often implicated in foodborne outbreaks and because *E. coli* O157:H7 colonization of cattle is correlated with adulteration of beef products, control of this human pathogen in cattle must be addressed. Bacteriophage therapy shows promise as an efficacious mitigation strategy in cattle due to the high specificity and environmental persistence of bacteriophages and the possibilities of largescale application.

### 4.3. References

Appelmans, R. 1921. Le bacteriophage dans l'organisme. C. R. Seances Soc. Biol. Fil.
85:722-724. (Reviewed in: Kutter, E. 2001. Phage Therapy: Bacteriophage as
Natural, Self-limiting Antibiotics. AstraZeneca Research Foundation India , India
p. 1147-1161).

- Barrow, P. A., and J. S. Soothill. 1997. Bacteriophage therapy and prophylaxis: rediscovery and renewed assessment of the potential. Trends Microbiol. 5:268-271.
- Bruttin, A., and H. Brüssow. 2005. Human volunteers receiving *Escherichia coli* phageT4 orally: a safety test of phage therapy. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.49:2874-2878.
- Chibani-Chennoufi, S., J. Sidoti, A. Bruttin, M.-L. Dillmann, K. Kutter, F. Quadri, A. Sarker and H. Brüssow. Isolation of *Escherichia coli* bacteriophage from the stool of pediatric diarrhea patients in Bangladesh. J. Bacteriol. 186:8287-8294.
- Dubos, R. J., J. H. Straus, and C. Pierce. 1943. The multiplication of bacteriophage in vivo and its protective effects against an experimental infection with *Shigella dysenteriae*. J. Exp. Med. 78:161-168.
- Elder, R. O., J. E. Keen, G. R. Siragusa, G. A. Barkocy-Gallagher, M. Koohmaraie, and W. W. Laegreid. 2000. Correlation of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 prevalence in feces, hides, and carcasses of beef cattle during processing. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. US. 97:2999-3003.
- Geier, M. R., M. E. Trigg, C. R. Merril. 1973. Fate of bacteriophage lambda in nonimmune germ-free mice. Nature. 246:221-223.
- Hancock, D., T. Besser, J. Lejeune, M. Davis, and D. Rice. 2001. The control of VTEC in the animals reservoir. Int. J. Food. Microbiol. 66:71-78.
- Merril, C. R., D. Scholl, and S. L. Adhya. 2003. The prospect for bacteriophage therapy in Western medicine. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2:489-497.

Montenegro, M. A., M. Bülte, T. Trumpf, S. Aleksić, G. Reuter, E. Bulling, and R. Helmuth. 1990. Detection and characterization of fecal verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* from healty cattle. J. Clin. Microbiol. 28:1417-1421.

- Naylor, S. W., J. C. Low, T. E. Besser, A. Mahajan, G. J. Gunn, M. C. Pearce, I. J.
  McKendrick, D. G. Smith, and D. L. Gally. 2003. Lymphoid follicle-dense
  mucosa at the terminal rectum is the principal site of colonization of
  enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in the bovine host. *Infect. Immun.*71:1505-1512.
- Nungester, W. J., and R. M. Watrous. 1934. Accumulation of bacteriophage in spleen and liver following its intravenous inoculation. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 31:901-905.
- Potter, A. A., S. Klashinsky, Y. Li, E. Frey, H. Townsend, D. Rogan, G. Erickson, S. Hinkley, T. Klopfenstein, R. A. Moxley, D. R. Smith, and B. B. Finlay. 2004.
  Decreased shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by cattle following vaccination with type III secreted proteins. Vaccine 22:362-369.
- Renter, D. G., and J. M. Sargeant. 2002. Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157: epidemiology and ecology in bovine production environments. Anim. Health Res. Rev. 3:83-94.
- Sheng, H., H. J. Knecht, I. T. Kudva, and C. J. Hovde. 2006. Application of bacteriophages to control intestinal *Escherichia coli* O157:h7 levels in ruminants. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72:5359-5366.

- Smith, H. W. and M. B. Huggins. 1982. Successful treatment of experimental *Escherichia coli* infections in mice using phage: its general superiority over antibiotics. J. Gen. Microbiol. 128:307-318.
- Sulakvelidze, A., Z. Alavidze, and J. G. Morris, Jr. 2001. Bacteriophage therapy. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 45:649-659.
- Tanji, Y., T. Shimada, H. Fukodomi, K. Miyanaga, Y. Nakai, and H. Unno. 2005.
  Therapeutic use of phage cocktail for controlling *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in gastrointestinal tract of mice. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 100:280-287